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Chapter 4 : Maxxam’s on the Horizon 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

“There’s a little story about the golden rule: those who have the gold, rule” 
 

—Charles Hurwitz speaking to Pacific Lumber employees in December 1985 
 

In the town of Kilgore, Texas was born a tailor’s son, 
From the killing of the Indians he learned how the west was won. 
His name was Charlie Hurwitz and he terrorized the land, 
His killing field was Wall Street and his gang was called Maxxam… 

 

—lyrics excerpted from Maxxam’s on the Horizon, by Darryl Cherney 
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By the fall of 1985, the Pacific Lumber Company 
(PL), based in southern Humboldt County, had exist-
ed for over 115 years and remained a virtual eye in the 
hurricane of class conflict, capitalist boom and bust, 
and ecological battles that raged throughout the Pacif-
ic Northwest. The company had been established in 
1869 along with the company town of Forestville with 
the help of two Nevada venture capitalists named A. 
W. MacPhereson and Henry Wetherbee for a grand 
total of $750,000.1 It was, in fact, the first foray by 
absentee owners into the redwood lumber industry of 
Humboldt County, predating even the California 
Redwood Company. Although it didn’t commence 
actual lumber operations until 1887, it grew quickly, 
and by the last decade of the 19th Century, it was the 
largest lumber company in the county.2 By 1904, P-L 
owned 40,000 acres of timberland and its mill (“A”) 
operating on two ten-hour shifts, could produce 
300,000 feet of cut lumber daily. By 1909, the con-
struction of a second mill (“B”) increased the compa-
ny’s productivity to a whopping 450,000 feet per day 
with one eight-hour shift working in both mills. The 
milling complex was one of the largest such facilities 
on the Pacific Coast. The town’s population increased 
from 454 in 1890 to over 3,000, and the company’s 
workforce numbered at least 2,000.3 

There had been but one significant change in 
Pacific Lumber’s ownership over its history. In 1905, 
Maine lumberman Simon J. Murphy acquired the 
company with the help of east coast investors.4 Upon 
acquiring the company he changed the name of the 
town to Scotia, in honor of his family’s roots in Nova 
Scotia.5 It was under Murphy’s leadership that the 
company instituted its “welfare-capitalist” paternalism 
in a clear attempt to stave off attempts by the IWW 
(and other unions) to gain a foothold among Pacific 
Lumber’s employees.6 In an effort to ensure that 
peace would reign supreme, the company closed its 
saloon, “an infamous whorehouse and gambling par-
lor” known as the “Green Goose”, in 1910, and re-
placed it with a bank. That establishment was later 
transformed into Bertain’s Laundry, which would at 

 
1 “Company Town Threatened”, by Ruthanne Cecil, Country Activist, 
November 1985. 

2 Cornford, Daniel, Workers and Dissent in the Redwood Empire, 
Philadelphia, PA, Temple University Press, 1987, page 154. 

3 Cornford, op. cit. 

4 “Great Grandson of P-L Founder Likes Employee Ownership Plan”, 

by Marie Gravelle, Eureka Times-Standard, September 25, 1988. 

5 Cecil, November 1985, op. cit. 

6 Article by A. E. Blockinger, Pioneer Western Lumberman, #56, July 15, 
1911, quoted in Cornford, op. cit.  

one time become the largest cleaning establishment in 
the county.7 By the second decade of the 20th Century, 
Scotia was one of the nation’s most developed com-
pany towns, boasting of two churches, two banks, a 
saloon, a hospital, a schoolhouse, a library, a club-
house, and a large company owned general store. It 
also included several cultural and social institutions, 
including four fraternal orders and a volunteer fire 
department.8 

The IWW spared no vitriol at the obvious—
and essentially overt—attempt by the employing class 
to steal their thunder, but the scheme worked.9 The 
company wasn’t ever entirely free of dissenters, and 
there was at least one attempt at a wildcat in 1946 
during the Great Strike.10 Yet, the company remained 
nonunion throughout its history, resisting organizing 
attempts by the IWW, various AFL unions, and the 
IWA, even though ironically it was the threat of un-
ionization that had inspired P-L to implement its be-
nevolent dictatorship in the first place.11 When Mur-
phy’s grandson, Albert Stanwood Murphy, assumed 
the role of Chairman of the P-L board of directors, he 
carried on and enhanced his grandfather’s practices.12 

While the Murphy family was anti-union, they 
were far more conservation minded than most and 
they instilled that ethic into Pacific Lumber’s logging 
practices. This didn’t happen overnight of course. It 
took some prodding from Save the Redwoods League 
in the 1920s to convince them to consider the preser-
vation of old growth redwoods, but unlike most tim-
ber companies, P-L embraced sustainable logging. 
Under the direction of Albert S. Murphy, who inher-
ited the company in 1931, Pacific Lumber introduced 
selective logging practices as opposed to clear cutting, 
and limited old growth logging to no more than 70 
per cent of inventory, and the company continued the 
practice from then on. The rest of the timber industry 
scoffed at P-L’s methods, but the environmental 
movement hailed them as revolutionary.13 It bucked 
the economic trends of capital, adopting one of the 
most sustainable logging practices in all of the Pacific 

 
7 “The Takeover”, by David M. Abramson, San Francisco Examiner, 
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11 Cornford, op. cit., pp. 191-216. Emphasis added. 

12 “PL Shareholders Assail Stock Offer”, Eureka Times-Standard, October 
28, 1985. 

13 Harris, David, The Last Stand: The War between Wall Street and 
Main Street over California’s Ancient Redwoods, New York, NY, 
Random House, 1995, Pages 16-18. 
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Northwest, so that by 1985, it possessed the largest 
inventory of privately owned old growth redwood left 
in the world.14 Every year it would sell approximately 
40 to 50 million board feet of redwood lumber with-
out depleting its standing timber resources, and as 
time passed, those vast stands of old growth red-
woods became the envy of the other companies. Bud 
McCrary, vice president of Big Creek Lumber in San-
ta Cruz in 1985 declared, “Pacific Lumber has done 
an excellent job. Their concept of conservative forest 
management has paid off for them…They’re the guys 
in the white hats in the logging business. They’ve 
been a long term company with high ideals.”15 

Pacific Lumber also eschewed short-term 
profit in favor of long term economic stability. In 
1955, when logging and mill related deaths were at a 
major peak, and often accepted as the cost (though, 
of course, not to the employing class) of doing busi-
ness, the company adjusted its production practices 
which resulted in an 80 to 90 percent reduction in 
untimely fatalities. After a major flood in Humboldt 
County in 1964, P-L declined to claim assessed valua-
tions. They could have legally done this, but in doing 
so would have deprived the county’s general fund of 
much needed revenue. Certainly, P-L’s sustainable 
logging meant less short-term profit, but by all esti-
mations yielded better long-term gain. A marked con-
trast could be seen, for example, in the company’s 
logging in the Mattole and Eel River watersheds 
which, by contrast to the other logging companies in 
the same area were as different as night and day.16 The 
company applied this philosophy to its workforce as 
well. They rented the houses in Scotia to its employ-
ees at below market rates and maintained a “no 
layoff” policy during economic downturns in the 
lumber market.17 

Pacific Lumber was an icon of stability, not at 
all like Georgia-Pacific, Louisiana-Pacific, Simpson, or 
Boise-Cascade. Although Pacific Lumber workers al-
so lived in nearby towns, including Arcata, Carlotta, 
Eureka, Ferndale, Fortuna, Hydesville, Rio Dell, the 
majority of the workers desired to live in Scotia. Al-

 
14 “Timber Wars: Footloose Wobs Urgently Needed”, by Judi Bari, 

Industrial Worker, October 1989. 

15 “Pacific Lumber Sale Fells a Tradition”, By John Markoff, San 
Francisco Examiner, October 27, 1985. In full disclosure, McCrary was a 
shareholder of the company who publically opposed Maxxam’s 
takeover. 

16 “PL Has Done Many Good Deeds”, letter to the editor by Samuel M 
Glenn, Eureka Times-Standard, November 7, 1985. 

17 “Ravaging the Redwood: Charles Hurwitz, Michael Milken, and the 
Costs of Greed”, by Ned Daly, Multinational Monitor, September 1994. 

bert Murphy’s son, Stanwood A. Murphy, described 
the benefits of life in Scotia in 1971 thusly: 
 

“After (a new employee) has put in ninety days 
on his mill job, he can get on the list to move 
into Scotia, where a comfortable one bedroom 
company bungalow, with a garden and a lawn 
on a quiet residential street rents from under 
$60 a month (in 1971). Water and sewage and 
garbage removal are free. Every five to seven 
years, the company will repaint his house, inside 
and out, free. As he moves up in the company, 
he can move to a large house. He has good ac-
cident and health coverage, and a choice of a 
pension plan or an investment program…If his 
son or daughter qualifies for a four-year-
college, he or she will receive a thousand-dollar 
scholarship from the company.  

“If he chooses to reject the moderate’s 
course, if he is frequently absent from work, 
guilty of drunkenness, fighting or reckless driv-
ing, if he is an offensive neighbor, mistreats his 
family, or gets himself heavily into debt, he will 
feel the pull of the company reins. A man who 
has applied for a house in Scotia may be kept 
waiting six months, a year, or forever, because 
of his behavior; a man living in a company 
house, who fails to give the yard a minimum of 
care, may find a company garden crew coming 
by to cut his lawn and weed his flowers for 
him, a service for which he will be billed. The 
pressure is subtle, but firm. 

“…Pacific Lumber deducts eighty-five dol-
lars a month from his check for rent, water and 
garbage. He pays no personal property tax. 
When something goes wrong with his house-
hold plumbing, if one of the kids breaks a win-
dow or the electricity goes out...just calls the 
company plumbing shop or the carpentry shop 
or the electrical shop, a man is sent out 
promptly, and there is no bill... 

“We’re a paternalistic company. I know 
that’s a dirty word, but it’s accurate. We lose 
money on the town. We figure it’s worth it, to 
keep a good crew here.”18 

 
Virtually every board foot composing Scotia’s more 
than 272 houses, and each timber in its hospital, all of 
the siding enclosing the Scotia Inn, and all of the logs 

 
18 Wilkerson, Hugh and John Van der Zee; Life in the Peace Zone: An 
American Company Town, New York; MacMillian, 1971.  



- 63 - 

that provided the columns for its elaborate Winema 
Theater was made of redwood harvested from its 
holdings and milled in its enormous mill complex. 
The company boasted of 300 acres of log ponds and 
debarking equipment, and stacks of drying lumber a 
mile long and a quarter mile wide.19  
 

* * * * * 
 
For a time, it seemed, the Murphy dynasty were as 
unchanging and as steadfastly enduring as the ancient 
redwoods themselves. Albert Stanwood Murphy ran 
the company until 1961 and was succeeded by his 
son, Stanwood A. Murphy Sr. However, in 1972, 
Stanwood succumbed to a heart attack and died in 
Scotia in the home of one of Pacific Lumber’s work-
ers. Although Stanwood’s sons Stanwood Murphy Jr., 
affectionately known as “Woody”, born in 1951, and 
his younger brother Warren, born in 1953, were con-
sidered scions of the dynasty, ironically under P-L’s 
paternalistic practices, they were also considered far 
too young to grab hold of its reins. Both of Stan-
wood’s sons had been encouraged, by their father, to 
work their way up through the ranks of the company 
in order to prove their worth, and—though they were 
literally the favored sons with an almost guaranteed 
inside track—their father’s untimely death happened 
while they were far from the proverbial finish line.20 
Instead, the board of directors promoted two higher 
seniority executives, in succession, to follow Stan-
wood Murphy. Then they hired the third, company 
accountant Gene Elam, from an outside source, Ar-
thur Young.21 Their choice had been partly motivated 
by a desire to diversify the company’s assets in order 
to ensure long term stability. Given Stanwood’s death, 
the loss of a Murphy at the helm—at least for a 
time—raised hitherto unknown concerns about the 
future of the venerable lumber concern.22  

Under Elam’s watch, Pacific Lumber’s timber 
production fared very well, and yet it also continued 
to follow the Murphys’ practices of sustainable forest-
ry. By the fall of 1985, the company owned approxi-
mately 193,000 acres of timberlands in Northern Cali-
fornia. Almost 145,000 acres of that was redwood, 
and the remainder was Douglas fir. Most estimates 
suggested that at least 12,000 acres of old growth 

 
19 “Lost in the Woods”, by Greg Goldin, Los Angeles Weekly, September 

7, 1990. 

20 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

21 Harris, op. cit., page 30. 

22 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

redwood were owned by P-L, and that represented 40 
percent of all remaining old growth at the time. P-L 
carried timberlands on its books at cost—$34 million, 
or $176 per acre. The land it owned, however, was 
worth $25,000 per acre of old growth, and $1,000 per 
acre for new growth.23 Of its lumber production, the 
split was 30 percent non-redwood; 35 percent old-
growth redwood; and 35 percent residual or younger 
growth redwood at the time.24 The 800 P-L employed 
in Scotia were but a fraction of its entire workforce.25 
 
 
Scotia seemed like an island that had managed to es-
cape the modern hyper capitalist timber industry. At 
one time there had been as many as 200 company 
towns located throughout the American west, but 
even as early as 1980, Scotia had become a living rel-
ic.26 Even in the days when it wasn’t, Scotia was 
unique, representing a genuinely happy kingdom in 
contrast to the slave labor conditions that existed in 
many other company towns.27 After the closing of the 
last working timber mill in McCloud, California at the 
foot of Mt. Shasta in Siskiyou County in 1979 by 
Champion International, Scotia became the last exist-
ing lumber company owned company town in the 
United States of America. A workforce of nearly 800 
worked at the Scotia mill, a third of who lived in the 
town with their families.28 In addition, all of the sup-
port work, from the local grocery market, to the street 
and park maintenance, to the blacksmiths (whose job 
it was to forge logging and milling tools), to the jani-
tors and office staff were employed by P-L.29 Still, as 
the IWW had tried to point out, much of this serenity 
was an illusion, an outlier of an exception that went 
against the rule of the realities of Corporate Timber, 
and as it turned out, P-L’s desire to preserve its isola-
tion would ultimately lead to its undoing. 

Elam did diversify the company in the early 
1970s, but only to a point. He began the process of 
reducing the company’s huge cash reserves (which 
Stanwood Murphy Sr. had believed made the compa-
ny prone to attract a potential corporate raider), by 

 
23 Cecil, November 1985, op. cit. 

24 Cecil, November 1985, op. cit. 

25 “P-L Agrees to Buyout Deal; New York Firm’s Offer of $40-a-Share 
Accepted”, by Lewis Clevenger, Eureka Times-Standard, October 23, 
1985. 

26 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

27 Markoff, October 27, 1985, op. cit. 

28 Cecil, November 1985, op. cit. 

29 Pete Kayes, Unpublished interview, by Steve Ongerth, October 11-
13, 2009.  
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investing them in a huge pension fund for the com-
pany’s employees he helped create.30 By 1985, P-L 
had become the leading producer of both gas and 
plasma cutting and welding equipment. This portion 
of the business contributed 58 percent of P-L sales 
and 46 percent of its operating income in 1984. Lum-
ber accounted for only 28 percent of the company’s 
sales that year, but 50 percent of its net income.31 The 
company’s timberland was worth $1 billion, according 
to some estimates; its cutting and welding division 
was worth $250 million. Additionally P-L owned 
3,400 acres of Sacramento Valley farmland, a down-
town San Francisco headquarters building, three saw-
mills (including Mills A and B in Scotia as well as an-
other in Fortuna), and 274 homes.32 In spite of Elam’s 
best efforts, however the company was still very 
“cash rich”, its pension fund overfunded by approxi-
mately $60 million, and its numerous assets could be 
quickly liquidated in a hostile takeover.33  

Furthermore, in 1975 the owners had made 
what seemed like an innocuous decision to list the 
company on the New York Stock Exchange. In 1984, 
P-L earned $44 million on revenues of $281 million.34 
As a result, the company paid out a large chunk of its 
value to stockholders. In 1984, dividends equaled 61 
percent of net income.35 To prevent a takeover, none 
of its shareholders, including the Murphy’s family 
members owned more than five percent of its stock.36 
Analysts estimated the value of the company’s assets 
at $50 to $70 per share37, but due to its sustainable 
forestry practices and its paternalistic policies, it trad-
ed at only $29 in the fall of 1985. 38 Pacific Lumber (or 
“PALCO” as it came to be known) was an ideal busi-
ness if one assumed that businesses described in eco-
nomic textbooks actually existed. In the real world 
however, under the increasingly speculation oriented 
phase of capitalism ushered in by the economic poli-
cies of Ronald Reagan and Margaret Thatcher, Pacific 
Lumber was a plum ripe for the picking.39 Still Scotia 
and Pacific Lumber carried on, much as they had be-
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fore, somehow seemingly protected from the pres-
sures of the outside world, much like Rivendell in 
J.R.R. Tolkien’s fictional world of Middle Earth. 
 

* * * * * 
 
All of that would come to an abrupt end in the mid-
dle of autumn of 1985. Throughout that summer 
there had been hints that somebody was taking an 
unusually strong interest in Pacific Lumber, but the 
clues were so subtle, so hidden that they escaped the 
notice of the company’s ten member board of direc-
tors—which included Suzanne Beaver (Stanwood 
Murphy’s widow), Gene Elam, and the latter’s prede-
cessor, Robert Hoover, whose duties included moni-
toring such activity. This was often difficult, because 
even then there were thousands of trades made daily, 
and even a single buyer taking a particular interest in 
one company might not have any major significance. 
There was no way that the stewards of the Murphy 
Dynasty could know that a single buyer who pur-
chased just under a million shares of the company—
just below the five percent maximum threshold estab-
lished by the recently passed Hart-Scott-Rodino act—
was anything more than a typical player in the rustle 
and bustle of the New York and Pacific Stock Ex-
changes. The casinos of Western Capitalism were a 
fair distance away from the everyday concerns of the 
Pacific Lumber Company and its relatively happy 
kingdom. Then again, it might have all of the signifi-
cance in the world, but there was no way to be sure.40 

Then, in the last days of September, rumors 
began to circulate much more heavily among the 
shareholders and workers of Pacific Lumber and the 
residents of Humboldt County that someone—a mys-
terious financier from back east—was making a seri-
ous play for the company. Normally Pacific Lumber’s 
stock traded at about 25,000 shares daily, but on 
Monday, September 25, 1985, 100,000 shares changed 
hands. Usually the value of the shares fluctuated by 
no more than a dollar per day41, but the next day the 
stock rose from $29 per share to $33, and reached $38 
the following Monday, September 30, at an unheard 
of volume of 350,000 shares.42 Most of the company’s 
stock was owned by small shareholders and had been 

 
40 “The Kozmetsky-Hurwitz Connection: A Tale of Corporate Raiders 
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Fortuna Advance, October 1, 1985. 
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in their families for many years. None of them were 
likely to be engaging in such unusual activity. It was 
therefore not surprising at all that the sudden peak in 
activity set off alarm bells.43 One of the P-L board of 
directors’ primary duties was to ferret out and investi-
gate such rumblings should they prove to be more 
than just static, but what they didn’t know was that 
those responsible for the unusual trades had done 
their homework well in advance and knew very well 
how to mask their activity. 

Then, quite out of the blue, the man who had 
the answer sought out the one most responsible for 
asking the question. Early on the morning of Septem-
ber 30, 1985, just after 5:30 AM, a man named 
Charles E. Hurwitz contacted Pacific Lumber Presi-
dent and Board Chair Gene Elam revealing his plans 
to purchase the old lumber company for $746 mil-
lion.44 He was the CEO of a New York based mort-
gage firm known as the Maxxam Group and he had 
already acquired 994,000 shares of Pacific Lumber’s 
common stock (just under 5 percent of the total) and 
was proposing to purchase the rest.45 He was offering 
$36 per share for the company’s estimated 21 million 
shares of common stock, for a total of $823 million.46 
Hurwitz declared Maxxam would finance the pur-
chase offer with $700 million in privately placed debt 
and bank financing with the rest to be provided from 
general corporate funds.47 $400 million of the debt 
securities would be placed by Drexel Burnham Lam-
bert (DBL), Owned by one Michael Milken, who was 
acting as the dealer manager of the tender offer, while 
Irving Trust Company would lend up to $300 mil-
lion.48 Meanwhile, Maxxam announced that it was 
boosting its stake in another publically traded firm, 
UNC Resources, to 19 percent and was seeking regu-
latory approval to acquire as much as 51 percent of 
that company, perhaps in order to use its $102 million 
in cash reserves to acquire P-L.49 Elam, acting on ad-
vice from the P-L board’s corporate legal counsel Ed 
Beck publically declared that “he could not com-
ment” on the rumor’s veracity, but privately he knew 
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it was the cold, hard truth.50 Demonstrating that he 
was quite serious, Hurwitz upped his offer to $38.50 
per share on October 1.51 

He may have been a man of mystery to the 
people of Scotia, but in the world of high finance 
Charles Hurwitz was well known for hostile takeovers 
and greenmail.52 He was not an old man, in fact he 
was only 45, but he had already earned a reputation 
for being one of the most ruthless speculators and 
unscrupulous businessmen in the nation, skilled at 
using millions of dollars to control billions in corpo-
rate assets. He was an expert raider and greenmailer, 
ruthless and unyielding, “adept at acquiring a minority 
stake in a company and then using it to gain control 
or to force the company to buyout his position for a 
profit,” and like Harry Merlo, not adverse to skirting 
the boundaries of the law when it suited him.53 Even 
among the capitalist class, Hurwitz and his ilk had 
been considered extreme, perhaps best personified by 
the character of Gordon Gekko in the 1987 Oliver 
Stone movie Wall Street. There was some speculation 
by Standard & Poor’s Stock Reports, that he had target-
ed Pacific Lumber because acquiring it would have 
diversified Maxxam’s portfolio, allowing him to avoid 
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) as an investment company, which carried with 
it a much more stringent set of regulations.54 Howev-
er, Maxxam was just a piece of Hurwitz’s vast finan-
cial empire, which was built on three key investment 
bases that were intertwined in a complex financial 
ownership arrangement designed to shelter and pro-
tect assets and avoid scrutiny. At the time, Maxxam 
was the name of his real estate company based in 
New York City, while his other two divisions were 
Federated Development Company in Houston and 
MCO Holdings in Los Angeles. His business holdings 
included 13 shopping centers in western New York 
State, a large savings and loan in Texas, a large resort 
in Puerto Rico, and much more.55  

Hurwitz had built this empire quickly and 
mercilessly. He was a self-described farm boy from 
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eastern Texas, but at age 24 he opened his first bro-
kerage, a mutual fund called Summit Group, on Wall 
Street and created a $4 billion oil, real estate, and fi-
nancial empire. In 1971, while managing Summit, he 
was charged with violating antifraud regulations in 
connection with stock trading. The matter was re-
solved in his favor when he signed a consent decree 
without admitting guilt. Seven years later, however, 
after an insurance company he owned collapsed, he 
was charged with mismanagement and fraud by gov-
ernment regulators. Those charges were also 
dropped.56  

Since he had already earned a reputation as a 
calculating and brutal wheeler and dealer, he began to 
keep a reclusive profile, rarely granting interviews or 
making public appearances. But, while Hurwitz may 
have personally been incommunicado, he was as active 
as ever in the business world. In 1978, he began ac-
cumulating stock in the L.A. based McCulloch Cor-
poration, which had began as a chainsaw company 
but had long since diversified its financial activities. 
At that time, the company was drowning in debt and 
hamstrung by litigation. Hurwitz acquired 13 percent 
of its shares, valued at a total of $8 million. In spite of 
heavy opposition from McCulloch’s old guard, Hur-
witz successfully placed two of his lieutenants, Tele-
dyne cofounder George Kozmetsky and New York 
attorney Ezra Levin on its board of directors. He then 
bided his time until 1980, engineering a coup and tak-
ing over its chairmanship.57 According to one McCul-
loch manager, “Charles came across as so warm and 
caring that it took almost two years to realize we’d 
lost control.”58 

With the return to neoclassical laissez faire 
capitalism in the 1980s, extremists like Merlo and 
Hurwitz were no longer as reviled among their class, 
and even though they alarmed their fellow capitalists 
by pushing the envelope, the latter secretly welcomed 
the financial benefits such activity brought about. 
Within this increasingly dog-eat-dog atmosphere, 
Hurwitz was as busy as ever. Under his leadership, the 
McCulloch board’s first act was the elimination of 
monthly management committee meetings, the termi-
nation of management’s costly stock-option plan, and 
the sale of its 14 jets. Hurwitz then spun off McCul-
loch’s energy division, renaming it MCO Resources, 
and sold the remainder, including its coal properties, 
for a $115 million during the energy boom at the end 

 
56 Markoff, November 3, 1985, op. cit. 

57 Markoff, November 3, 1985, op. cit. 

58 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

of the Carter Administration. Then, in 1982, Hurwitz 
used McCulloch, in which he controlled 60 percent of 
the company’s shares, as a vehicle to capture Simplici-
ty Pattern Company, a sewing pattern producer for 
$48 million. Like Pacific Lumber, Simplicity was cash-
rich, with a sizable pension plan.59 Hurwitz took his 
profit by reducing the employees’ annual pension 
fund allocation—which had remained unchanged for 
37 years—from $10,000 to $6,000, even after promis-
ing to leave it untouched.60 He then offloaded the 
Pattern Division to another company, Triton Group, 
renaming the remainder Maxxam in 1984.61 Hurwitz 
retained 11 percent of the old Simplicity Pattern 
company and transformed Maxxam into the real es-
tate investment company it was now known as 
through additional acquisitions.62 

Beginning in 1983, Hurwitz fought a decade 
long battle with the southern California town of Ran-
cho Mirage. Located east of Palm Springs, it was 
known as “the Playground of Presidents”, and was 
one of the wealthiest municipalities in the United 
States. Hurwitz attempted to finance the construction 
of a Ritz Carlton Hotel and estate housing on the 
lambing grounds of the endangered bighorn sheep 
that lay within the city limits. The bighorn were well 
loved and had been chosen as the town’s official em-
blem, even to the point of being embossed on the 
town’s business cards. Unbeknownst to his fellow 
shareholders, Hurwitz used worthless collateral from 
another one of his companies to finance the purchase 
of the land.63 Hurwitz initially had the support of 
former president Gerald Ford and rubber-fortune 
heir Leonard Firestone as partners.64 The residents of 
Rancho Mirage on the other hand, many of them fa-
mous actors and entertainers, including Frank Sinatra 
and Susan Marx (Harpo’s widow), were incensed, and 
fought a long a bitter battle with the Texas financier. 
They overwhelmingly passed a ballot initiative to stop 
the construction of the hotel and housing, in reaction 
to which Hurwitz sued the city.65 In a moment of 
fearfulness, the city council caved in to Hurwitz, anx-
ious that the city might go bankrupt in a protracted 
legal battle with the financier, who seemingly had 

 
59 Markoff, November 3, 1985, op. cit. 

60 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

61 From www.jailhurwitz.com, by Darryl Cherney, 1999. 

62 Markoff, November 3, 1985, op. cit. 

63 From www.jailhurwitz.com, by Darryl Cherney, 1999. 

64 Markoff, November 3, 1985, op. cit. 

65 From www.jailhurwitz.com, by Darryl Cherney, 1999. 

http://www.jailhurwitz.com/
http://www.jailhurwitz.com/
http://www.jailhurwitz.com/


- 67 - 

deep pockets.66 Ironically, Hurwitz’s fellow share-
holders eventually sued him—in 1992—for $30 mil-
lion for misrepresenting the nature of the collateral, 
which turned out to be worthless, but that time the 
hotel had been built and the lambing ground de-
stroyed.67 

Hurwitz was far from finished, however. In 
1984, he threatened a hostile takeover of Castle & 
Cooke, while the latter’s management was mired in a 
failed attempt to acquire Dr. Pepper.68 Hurwitz ac-
quired 11.8 percent of the company’s stock, and, in an 
act of greenmail, forced the shareholders to buy back 
the stock he had purchased at $70.8 million, a 25 per-
cent premium above the market price.69 Hurwitz 
walked away with approximately $9 million in profit 
for a mere three months’ effort, and left an empty 
shell in his wake. The now emaciated Castle & Cooke 
merged with Flexi-Van Corporation in early 1985.70  

Signs everywhere pointed to Hurwitz engag-
ing in similar machinations to acquire P-L, and he was 
evidently prepared for every eventuality. Though the 
venerable lumber company was a juicy target for a 
takeover, its directors had thought they had taken ap-
propriate counter measures, including incorporating 
various protective clauses in the company’s bylaws—
such as a requirement for 80 percent shareholder ap-
proval of a sale of the company—to ensure that it was 
still a more difficult takeover opportunity than most.71 
Hurwitz had purchased five percent of the company’s 
common stock already, but he could not immediately 
acquire more even if he had the money, because in 
doing so he would have violated Hart-Scott-Rodino 
and would also have to receive permission from a su-
permajority of the P-L’s stockholders.72 Clark Bowen, 
vice president and resident manager of Shearson 
Lehman / American Express in Eureka, was certain 
that Maxxam was driving up P-L’s stock in another 
greenmail attempt, but in retrospect, that may have 
merely been Hurwitz’s fallback position. The Texas 
raider had much bigger plans for Pacific Lumber. On 
Thursday, October 17, two weeks after the initial 
spike, profit-takers drove the P-L stock to a high of 
$40 per share before closing at $39 at the conclusion 
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of the day’s trading.73 Even the New York Stock Ex-
change’s normally permissive watchdogs took notice 
of the activity and initiated an investigation into the 
unusually heavy trading that took place and by their 
own estimations “uncovered significant evidence of 
insider trading” and stock parking, but chose not to 
pursue the matter further.74 

That Hurwitz had silent partners in his takeo-
ver efforts was evident, the only questions were how 
many there were and their identities. In time, it would 
be revealed that one of these shadowy allies was Boyd 
Jeffries, chair of the Los Angeles brokerage firm Jef-
feries Group, Inc., who later plead guilty to parking 
stock for the former.75 Hurwitz instructed Jefferies, to 
purchase $40 million worth of P-L stock, worth about 
2.3 percent of the company’s total value, to avoid vio-
lation of Hart-Scott-Rodino.76 On September 27, P-L 
stock was trading at $34 a share, but Jeffries sold his 
shares of the stock to MCO Holding Company for an 
extremely charitable amount of $29.10 a share, which, 
considering the volume, was one of the most “philan-
thropic stock sales ever seen on Wall Street.”77 Evi-
dently, Jeffries’s purchase had been designed to hold 
the stock for Hurwitz, after the latter had reached the 
Hart-Scott-Rodino threshold78 and was anxious to 
acquire P-L.79 Hurwitz had gambled, however, on the 
board of directors being unaware of the 80 percent 
supermajority requirement (since P-L had never seri-
ously been the target of a takeover during their ten-
ure), hoping they would instead assume that only a 
simple majority was needed.80 Hurwitz had guessed 
correctly, but he had an unexpected complication. 

Another mysterious figure involved in Maxx-
am’s stealthy acquisition of Pacific Lumber’s stock 
was none other than the infamous Wall Street specu-
lator Ivan Boesky. Allegedly unbeknownst to Hurwitz 
at first, DBL’s Michael Milken instructed Ivan Boesky 
to also purchase nearly 5 percent of P-L’s stock, which 
he did just prior to Hurwitz making his initial move. 
Boesky eventually made a tidy profit of $950,000 
from this venture, and it explained the initial spike in 
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P-L’s trading activity.81 This was Milken’s attempt to 
hedge his bets, just in case Maxxam was unsuccessful 
in its attempts to convince the P-L board to agree to 
its tender offer, and it also theoretically shielded DBL 
from charges of stock parking.82 Boesky, who would 
later be implicated for insider trading that netted him 
several million dollars, and reveal all of these connec-
tions to the SEC was to Milken as Jefferies was to 
Hurwitz.83 Milken’s and Boesky’s machinations al-
most doomed the deal however, because other Wall 
Street sharks unconnected to the collusion had sensed 
an opportunity and jumped into the fray on Thursday, 
September 26 threatening to drive the price of P-L’s 
stock up beyond Hurwitz’s planned tender offer. 
Ironically, Hurwitz was saved by Mother Nature, of 
all things, in the form of Hurricane Gloria which shut 
down the stock market on Friday, September 27. 
None of this information had been uncovered by the 
P-L directors either. When trading resumed on Mon-
day, Hurwitz made his move.84 
 

* * * * * 
 
Hurwitz also apparently had silent partners within Pa-
cific Lumber, or at the very least he could count on 
specific key personnel to assist him in these efforts. 
One of his most willing collaborators was an ambi-
tious up and coming executive by the name of John 
Campbell. In 1967, Campbell, a native of Australia, 
had married Cindy Carpenter, the daughter of one of 
the current P-L directors, Ed Carpenter, who had also 
been Stanwood Murphy Senior’s best friend. Camp-
bell had always been considered ambitious and Mach-
iavellian to the point of ruthlessness, and he had a 
much different vision for the future of the company 
than the Murphys. Indeed, Campbell, who had been 
trained in Australia as a banker, had much more in 
common with Harry Merlo than Stanwood Murphy 
Sr. He considered the conservative P-L logging prac-
tices, including its prohibition on clearcutting, as an 
embarrassment, since it greatly underutilized the 
company’s profit potential. Due to his family connec-
tions, however, Campbell had been regarded as al-
most being one of the Murphys himself and, like 
Woody and Warren, had been put on the same man-
agement track. By 1984 he had climbed the company 
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management ladder to the point where he was second 
in command in the management of P-L’s production 
chain in Scotia, under the direction of executive vice 
president of lumber production, Warren Flinch-
paugh.85  

Flinchpaugh, by contrast, was very much a 
true believer in the Murphy’s traditional management 
and production policies, to the point where he butted 
heads with Gene Elam, sometimes even withholding 
production figures from the P-L president in San 
Francisco. According to existing company practices, 
however, even though Elam may have been the presi-
dent, it was the production boss in Scotia who actual-
ly set the pace. Campbell knew this and planted the 
suggestion in Elam’s mind that Flinchpaugh had 
looked the other way when one of the gyppos that 
contracted with P-L had been double dipping. 
Flinchpaugh denied the accusations, but Elam took 
them at face value without conducting a thorough 
investigation, and after pressuring his subordinate for 
several months, the now maligned executive applied 
for early retirement. No doubt the innuendo and fin-
ger pointing, some of it possibly stoked by John 
Campbell, helped influence Flinchpaugh’s decision, 
but Elam had already hoped to replace his underling 
in favor of one more communicative.86  

Campbell was now in charge and he wasted 
no time in proposing changes. He had intended to 
ramp up annual lumber harvesting from 130 million 
bf to 170 million, but, he needed the P-L board’s ap-
proval for such a radical departure from P-L’s existing 
practices. Even though Elam had welcomed the new-
ly appointed executive vice president’s ambition and 
production oriented management philosophy, the P-L 
president and the rest of the board were averse to 
abandoning the Murphys’ logging policies. Campbell 
hoped to make them see otherwise, however, and 
called upon the services of the company’s forester 
manager Robert Stephens to make his case before the 
P-L board during their September 1985 meeting. 
Ironically, Stephens had usually been charged with 
defending the company’s sustainable logging practices 
and progressive environmental policy before critics 
many times and had often performed beautifully.87  

Stephens was nothing if he was not a compa-
ny man, but he was more than willing to do Camp-
bell’s bidding. But, when questioned by the board, 
especially director Mike Hollern of Oregon, who was 
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also a true believer in the Murphy philosophy and 
quite knowledgeable on forestry issues himself, Ste-
phens could not offer any substantive proof that the 
liquidation logging practices currently in trend at the 
time would meet the long term conditions that the 
existing P-L practices offered. The directors tore Ste-
phens’s arguments to shreds. Campbell watched the 
affair stone-faced, and then later roundly excoriated 
his underling for embarrassing him in front of them. 
Expediently, however, Campbell contacted Elam and 
informed his superior that Stephens had been thor-
oughly chastised for his incompetence, all the while 
secretly still hoping to implement his more aggressive, 
profit-oriented logging philosophy.88 
 

* * * * * 
 
By this time Woody and Warren Murphy had come of 
age and were in their early 30s, but neither brother 
was in any position to resist the unfolding drama. The 
elder Murphy had always desired to work for Pacific 
Lumber and had truly learned the business by taking 
on one lumber production assignment after the next. 
He eventually found his way to the P-L corporate of-
fice in San Francisco to work in sales and attend col-
lege to learn corporate law and business administra-
tion.89 Many of those close to P-L had originally as-
sumed that one day, he would be the next president 
of Pacific Lumber, but he didn’t turn out to be what 
most would call “executive material”, even in the 
anachronistic company that employed him. Woody 
was always a logger at heart and he decided—against 
the better judgment of his father—to return to the 
woods, which he did for a time, running one of the P-
L road crews for the better part of a decade. Less 
than a year before Maxxam’s attempted merger, after 
an ill-fated exchange with one of his superiors, he 
complained to John Campbell, hoping to invoke his 
family name. Instead, Campbell fired him and Mur-
phy earned the dubious honor of being the first 
member of his family ever to be fired from the dynas-
ty.90 In spite of this, he continued to hold one percent 
of P-L’s stock and remained fiercely loyal to the com-
pany, even though he started his own gyppo firm, 
Woody Murphy Logging and Construction in Field’s 
Landing north of Rio Dell. “You take (PL) away from 
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me and it’s like taking a vital organ out of me,” he 
declared in response to Maxxam’s threat.91  

Woody decided to act, and he called upon an-
other long time scion of Scotia and childhood friend, 
William Bertain. Bertain was the youngest of ten chil-
dren of the last man to own the town laundromat that 
bore his family name. He was also something of a 
contradiction. Like Murphy, he had grown up in Sco-
tia, but had chosen a career in law, originally attempt-
ing to practice in San Francisco, but having returned 
to Humboldt County after feeling like a fish out of 
water in a corporate office. He was a staunch and fair-
ly conservative Republican, similar in temperament to 
Barry Goldwater or Ronald Reagan, and yet he had a 
reputation for fighting for the underdog, and he was 
personally horrified by the possibility of an outsider 
from Texas using Wall Street money to destroy his 
childhood home. He had successfully fought against 
the location of a sewage plant on Humboldt Bay, but 
he was hardly “anti-business”, having helped Woody 
get his own startup on proper legal footing the previ-
ous year. Bertain was not a specialist in securities law 
and informed his client that he needed to research 
their options before taking action. Woody requested 
that his younger brother, Warren, be included in any 
legal action they took, but Bertain disabused of the 
notion explaining that his younger brother was in an 
even more difficult position than himself.92 
 

* * * * * 
 
Indeed, he was. Warren Murphy had also traveled the 
path dictated by his father. He looked and acted the 
part of a corporate executive, however, and had been 
appointed P-L’s manager of lumber operations a few 
months before Hurwitz’s initial foray. Like his broth-
er, he too owned one percent of the company’s 
stock.93 If his brother wasn’t appointed P-L president, 
Warren almost assuredly eventually would be—unless 
Hurwitz had his way.94 Warren worked very closely 
with John Campbell, his immediate supervisor, who 
had also been a longtime friend. In Warren’s mind, if 
he was “Michael Corleone”, and his older brother, 
“Sonny”, then Campbell would almost assuredly be 
“Tom Hagen”, the family “consigliere”, and in gen-
eral, the ambitious executive ostensibly played the 
part. Warren had gained limited bits of information 
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from his mother, but her understanding of the com-
plex and byzantine drama that was unfolding was lim-
ited at best. His instinct told him to charge into battle, 
but he held back until various potential “White 
Knights”—potential alternate suitors who could po-
tentially outbid Hurwitz—courted by the board of 
directors began showing up. At this point, the young-
er Murphy decided to act and contacted Elam and 
Hoover by phone, in a conference call that that was 
witnessed by John Campbell.95 Elam instructed Mur-
phy, “in no uncertain terms,” to stay out of the way.96 
At this point, Campbell suggested to Murphy that the 
fate of the company was in the hands of the directors. 
Murphy, still thinking that the executive was a trust-
worthy ally, believed him.97 
 

* * * * * 
 
The P-L board of directors, including Gene Elam, 
had indeed initially appeared steadfastly opposed to 
Maxxam’s advances. Pacific Lumber had shielded it-
self, or so they thought, from hostile takeovers in 
1981 by adopting several limiting provisions, includ-
ing staggered terms for directors and a requirement 
that the board consider “all relevant factors, including 
social, legal, environmental, and economic effects” 
when faced with a merger proposal or tender offer.98 
On October 9, they not only rejected Hurwitz’s offer, 
they filed a lawsuit against Maxxam, charging that 
Hurwitz was “a notorious takeover artist…(whose) 
background demonstrates a conspicuous absence of 
integrity, competence, and fitness necessary to control 
or manage (a firm such as Pacific Lumber).”99 They 
also charged that Maxxam’s offer of $38.50 per share 
was “inadequate”, and they could cite as proof the 
opinions of several respected financial analysts. For 
example, Christopher Charles of Wolf Hansen & Co. 
estimated that P-L could sell in the high 40s.100 Then 
they contacted a number of “white knights”. Speaking 
for his fellow directors, Elam declared,  
 

“The board was unanimous in rejecting this in-
adequate bid by the Maxxam interests and is de-
termined not to allow the great company to be 
acquired at in inadequate price…It seems in-
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conceivable to me that a company and its 
stockholders can be subjected to a disruptive 
and possibly (fraudulent) tender offer where the 
financing is not secured and there’s no assur-
ance that the money will ever be there.”101  

 
Reaction among the Pacific Lumber workers and 
townsfolk of Scotia was apprehensive, but optimistic. 
P-L had stood for over a century and—in their minds 
at least—the company was about as untouchable as 
one of its old growth redwoods. In the words of San 
Francisco Examiner reporter David Abramson: 
 

“Far removed from the acoustically padded 
boardroom, where the company’s executives 
would wage their battle with the silent thrust 
and parry of weighty documents and legal prec-
edents, the workers in Scotia were filled with 
confidence. ‘We’re going to win this battle,’ Mel 
Berti the butcher winked to all his customers. 
After all, most Scotians reasoned, Pacific Lum-
ber had been through three major fires, two 
thunderous earthquakes, and floods that 
washed away a dancehall and most of their tim-
ber, and that hadn’t stopped them. Even the 
Great Depression only put a dent in the pro-
duction line. ‘That first bid’s a joke,’ Randy Jef-
fers told his buddies on the road crew. ‘Pacific 
Lumber’s worth a whole lot more than that. 
Anyway, no one’s going to pop our bubble.’”102 

 
In truth, however Elam had, at best, been saber rat-
tling, because the Pacific Lumber board of directors 
was far more pragmatic than their loud proclamations 
would suggest at first blush. The lawsuit had been the 
first in a three prong strategy which also included pro-
tection of the company’s cash reserves (including the 
$50 million pension fund and surplus) in case the 
takeover succeeded in spite of their efforts, and—
unbeknownst to the shareholders, workers, and their 
families—a “dignified” surrender. Elam had mobi-
lized an army of advisors including Robert Hoover, 
the chairman of the board of Pacific Lumber, the 
prestigious law firm of Watchell, Lipton, Rosen, and 
Katz, and the investment bankers Saloman Brothers. 
Strangely, however, Roger Miller, representing the 
latter advised Elam that unless the board could secure 
a better tender offer, the majority of the shareholders 
would vote to sell out to Maxxam anyway. Should the 
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board choose to fight the takeover, the stock prices 
would likely soon return to their initial price of $29 
per share, which left the board open to shareholder 
lawsuits for not maximizing the value of their stock. 
One did not acquire the keys to the P-L kingdom 
without a shrewd—and sometimes dispassionate—
business sense.103 Hurwitz may have been reviled, 
even among his fellow capitalists, but he had done his 
homework. He knew that according to Pacific Lum-
ber’s charter, the company was required to remain 
responsible not just to its finances but to the share-
holders, employees, and its communities.104 He coun-
tersued the P-L executives for trying to block his of-
fer, charging that “the executives had breached their 
fiduciary duties by guaranteeing themselves a share of 
an estimated $60 million in surplus assets in the com-
pany retirement fund.” 105  

As a hedger, if Hurwitz couldn’t persuade the 
Pacific Lumber directors to go along with the plan, 
there were others who easily could. Roger Miller had 
warned Elam and Hoover to place little faith in the 
anti-merger protections that supposedly bulwarked 
the company from a takeover, stating that their legal 
standing was at best dubious. However this was only 
part of the story.106 As it turned out Saloman Brothers 
were as motivated by greed as anyone and they had 
held several meetings with DBL through intermediar-
ies and though both groups stood to gain whether the 
merger took place or not, according to their respec-
tive retainer agreements, both ultimately stood to gain 
more if the merger went through. The two groups had 
met prior to the tender offer and when it seemed the 
sale might be in danger of failing, they met again, pri-
vately, to strategize on how to make it succeed. After 
having devised their strategy, each met with their re-
tainers.107 Then, on Monday, October 21, Hurwitz 
and his DBL advisors met privately with Elam and his 
Saloman Brothers team. The Maxxam CEO increased 
his purchase offer to $39.30, and then again to $39.50. 
Elam refused both overtures, at which point Maxx-
am’s representatives prepared to leave and continue 
their hostile takeover attempts through other means, 
including further lawsuits if necessary.108  

Hurwitz had one further ace up his sleeve in 
the person of P-L director Michael Coyne. Coyne had 
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been brought into the Pacific Lumber fold and made 
a major shareholder when the company had acquired 
his welding and cutting business. Coyne was not a 
Hurwitz ally, but he stood to gain far more if the sale 
went through. He also broadcast his emotions quite 
openly and Hurwitz, being sly and cunning, was able 
to read him like an open book. Sensing that Elam as 
about to blink, the Maxxam CEO used a third party 
banker who knew Coyne personally to convince the 
latter to nudge Elam for one more round of negotia-
tions.109 The P-L president agreed, and Hurwitz 
upped his offer one last time to $40. The next day, 
Elam convened a meeting of the board of directors 
and presented the latest offer, and Miller once again 
counseled that $40 per share was the best likely offer 
they would receive. This time, the board took his ad-
vice.110  

On Wednesday, October 23, 1985, the P-L di-
rectors announced that they had agreed to a merger 
with Maxxam.111 In addition to the sale price, the 
board agreed to drop all litigation against Maxxam, 
stop pursuing any higher purchase offers, and to re-
linquish its hold on the pension fund. In turn, Hur-
witz agreed to retain the current management, have 
Gene Elam be appointed to the new board of direc-
tors, and to maintain all existing employee benefits 
and compensation, but only for three years.112 Hur-
witz also agreed to defend the P-L board if the share-
holders charged it with breaching their fiduciary du-
ties. Officially this made the would-be hostile takeo-
ver into a friendly one.113 In less than a month, 
Huwritz had managed to quite literally steal Pacific 
Lumber, a company worth $1.5 billion, for a mere 
$834 million.114  
 

* * * * * 
 
For the people of Scotia, the Pacific Lumber workers, 
their town, their houses, their entire existence for 
three generations, had just been sold out from under 
them. One anonymous P-L stockholder summed up 
the feelings of many by saying, “The company has 
been raided from the outside by a previously un-
known corporate raider, and I’m under the distinct 
impression that some employees and large stockhold-
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ers feel they have been raped thoroughly—but legal-
ly”.115 Company foreman distributed bulletins an-
nouncing the merger. Long time employee, 49-year-
old Fred Elliot recalled, “It felt like someone had 
died.” 116 Several Scotia residents and Pacific Lumber 
workers expressed their anger and dismay to reporters 
anonymously, in fear that they would be the first to 
go when the inevitable restructuring began. “Just last 
week they vowed to fight the takeover and even had a 
lawsuit against Maxxam …Why the sudden turna-
round?” asked one. “I feel we’ve been sold down the 
tubes…and there’s not a damn thing we can do about 
it but wait and see what happens,” exclaimed anoth-
er.117  

Many of the employees were convinced that 
the Pacific Lumber board of directors had stabbed 
them in the back, all for the sake of lining their own 
pockets. To begin with, there were 34 executives, in-
cluding Elam, who had stipulations in their personal 
contracts guaranteeing them “golden parachutes” of 
at least $100,000 each should the company be ac-
quired in a merger.118 Elam rebutted these accusations 
arguing that that the P-L directors had added the sev-
erance provision the previous year, well before Hur-
witz had bought a single share of the company, pre-
cisely as a bulwark against a hostile takeover, because 
the six key administrators would be “expected to put 
up a bloody fight.”119 However what he hadn’t re-
vealed is that Hurwitz had agreed to increase these 
amounts in exchange for the directors’ silence.  

Director Michael Coyne, had publically de-
clared that Maxxam’s offer of $40 per share was the 
best the company had received, and he indicated that 
the board’s vote had been unanimous.120 However, 
Coyne had personally benefitted from the sale, and he 
had not been a part of the extended Murphy “family” 
for very long.121 Grover Wickersham, a San Francisco 
securities attorney and P-L shareholder of 20 years, 
disagreed with Coyne stating, “I think the board’s de-
cision…was totally inconsistent with everything they 
have said previously to the shareholders. The course 
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of action with the highest integrity would have been 
to present this action to the shareholders.”122 Fur-
thermore, Suzanne Murphy-Beaver contradicted 
Coyne declaring, “This was like duck soup (to Hur-
witz). We all felt rushed but we (also) felt we had to 
be fair to the shareholders. Nobody on the board was 
in favor of this merger.”123 Apparently many residents 
of Scotia agreed, and reportedly hung both Charles 
Hurwitz and Gene Elam in effigy outside one of the 
main buildings in Scotia.124  

There were a few members of P-L’s extended 
family who apparently approved the change. For ex-
ample, Stanley Parker, the former traffic manager at 
the company’s Scotia mill, and self appointed compa-
ny historian, opined: 
 

“I’m convinced company officials made a 
strong effort to find another buyer who would 
retain the company’s programs of looking to 
the future. They probably failed because there 
isn’t as much value in the company’s standing 
timber as you might think…I’m unhappy that 
the old management, many of which I’ve 
known personally for several years, is going. I 
have some company stock and I stand to make 
some money out of this, but I really don’t want 
to.”125  

 
Parker’s assessment of the apparent decline in stand-
ing timber was based on old information however, 
because a visual cruise had not been conducted of the 
company’s complete holdings since 1956.126 In his ill 
fated attempt to convince the old regime to embrace 
clearcutting, Robert Stephens had estimated P-L’s 
standing timber inventory to be approximately 5.2 
bbf, and though this estimation was later dismissed as 
a poor assessment, it was more likely to have been a 
deliberate fabrication by Stephens and Campbell127, 
even though it was accepted most as truthful.128 Hur-
witz himself had apparently suspected that Stephens’s 
figures had been off, because he had arranged for 
“surreptitious” flyovers through DBL, and quite pos-
sibly assessed that P-L had more standing timber than 
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believed129, a fact which was verified by an up-to-date 
timber cruise performed by the timber consulting 
firm Hammond, Jansen & Walling just after the take-
over.130  

Perhaps no one was more stunned by the an-
nouncement than Warren Murphy, and though he felt 
betrayed by the board, including his mother, this was 
but the beginning of the tragedy for him. He immedi-
ately sought out his friend John Campbell and ex-
pected his boss, the man who currently occupied the 
very office once used by his father and grandfather to 
join his fight; he could not have been more wrong. 
No sooner had the words left Warren’s mouth than 
Campbell took the wind out of his sails and informed 
him that since the board had made its decision, the 
matter was settled, and just to be clear, his supervisor 
repeated himself. This was effectively the end of their 
friendship, but if the younger Murphy had known the 
full truth, he would perhaps have been no less devas-
tated.131 Just weeks before Hurwitz had made himself 
known, William Bertain, of all people, had inadvert-
ently clued Campbell in to the odd market fluctua-
tions affecting P-L’s stock during a “Ducks Unlim-
ited” benefit in Scotia. Privately sensing that new 
ownership might give him the opportunity he sought 
to increase P-L’s lumber harvesting, Campbell, (like 
Elam, Hoover, and Coyne) prepared to hedge his 
bets.132  

Knowing that they faced an uphill battle, both 
Woody and Warren Murphy laid out their own strate-
gy. Although he was no longer an employee, Woody 
Murphy was well liked by long time Pacific Lumber 
workers and their family members, and they looked to 
him for leadership. After several discussions the two 
brothers and their sister, Suzanne Murphy-Civian, 
retaining Bill Bertain as their counsel133, filed a lawsuit 
on Wednesday, October 30, in San Francisco federal 
court charging that Hurwitz’s offer of $40 per share 
was less than the company’s long term worth.134 Mur-
phy-Civian declared, “To pay for the acquisition of 
Pacific Lumber, (Maxxam) will have to abandon the 
company’s historic sustained-yield policy and strip 
one of the world’s largest privately held stands of vir-
gin redwoods.” Warren Murphy added, that the in-
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creased cutting rate likely to occur under the new re-
gime would also cause timber prices on the North 
Coast to drop.135 The three collectively owned three 
percent of P-L’s stock, and refused to sell their shares 
to Maxxam,136 Woody Murphy justified the suit argu-
ing that he and his fellow shareholders, who included 
no small percentage of the company’s employees, had 
been misled. “The stockholders are getting stampeded 
into a deal they aren’t fully aware of. The 80 percent 
rule was set up to prevent just what is happening—a 
hostile takeover,” he declared.137  

Gene Elam, on the other hand—who had 
publically denounced Hurwitz one month previous-
ly—now sang a different tune, claiming that the deal 
was a good one for the P-L stockholders. He also dis-
missed the lawsuits as being groundless reminding 
everyone that the board, including Suzanne Beaver, 
the mother of the three Murphys, had voted unani-
mously to approve the sale. “It was a unanimous vote 
of all ten members—I was there…No one’s pointing 
that out, are they?”138 Woody Murphy accused Elam 
of betrayal, suggesting that the reason for the latter’s 
turnaround was motivated purely by the aforemen-
tioned severance packages should Hurwitz dissolve 
the current board. Even though Hurwitz claimed he 
would not do this, his past practice suggested that the 
financier could not be trusted. Either way, Elam 
couldn’t deny that he had nothing to lose by throwing 
in his lot with the new regime. “His severance agree-
ment is more than $193,000. He has a golden para-
chute, and it’s hard for him to be very objective in 
this kind of deal. He’s bought,” accused Woody Mur-
phy angrily.139  

Elam argued that Maxxam’s takeover would 
actually be a boon, declaring, “We don’t think em-
ployees have any reason to worry about their jobs. In 
order to service the (buyout) debt, there’s going to be 
more work, not less.” In the same instance, however, 
he uttered essentially contradictory statements saying, 
“In my opinion, it would be foolish for him to make 
changes in the present policies towards (P-L’s con-
servative cutting practices and paternalistic employee 
benefits). I’m counting on the fact and listen to what 
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we have to say.” Elam offered no explanation on how 
Hurwitz was going to accomplish that in light of his 
increased cutting likely to be required in his debt ser-
vicing efforts. An anonymous fellow P-L director 
contradicted him, however, commenting, “Those 
[Maxxam] guys are going to go in and haul down all 
that redwood timber in about 10 minutes.”140 Woody 
Murphy went a step further declaring, that given 
Hurwitz’s past dealings, he would likely not only de-
stroy P-L, but the entire North Coast economy as 
well: 
 

“The more timber you put on the market, the 
less valuable it becomes. It’ll hurt every mill on 
the coast…Hurwitz can guarantee that things 
will be great for three years and then, when he 
can’t service his debt, he can sell all (of the 
company’s) assets, close the mills, and leave 
with the money in his pocket. He’s not respon-
sible to anyone but himself. We need someone 
who cares about the people in this area.”141 

 
Elam responded, “Woody Murphy is incorrect on a 
lot of things.”142 While that statement may have been 
true in a broad sense, it was not in this particular case. 
In Hurwitz’s 41 page document describing the specif-
ics of his tender offer, which had yet to be made pub-
lic, on page 18 there was clearly written proof that he 
considered at least doubling P-L’s lumber harvesting 
and selling off many of its assets, just as Woody Murphy 
had suggested.143  

Elam, not content with merely defending his 
position, then tried to paint the Murphys and Bertain 
as malcontents. He declared that he had spoken with 
over 600 P-L employees during that week alone, and 
that in his estimation, he left them convinced that the 
sale was a positive development.144 Murphy disagreed, 
stating, “I’ve had 15 to 20 calls a day and no one 
wants this. People feel they’ve been sold out. I got 
about a dozen calls just last night from people telling 
me they’re behind our suit 100 percent.”145 Another 
unnamed employee, a company forester, confirmed 
this saying, “It’s a masterpiece of understatement to 
say we’re concerned. The things (Elam and the board) 

 
140 “Merger Would Create Jobs, P-L President Says”, Eureka Times-

Standard, October 31, 1985. 

141 Ridgeway, November 2, 1985, op. cit. 

142 Ponce, November 5, 1985, op. cit. 

143 Harris, op. cit., pages 55-56. 

144 Ponce, November 5, 1985, op. cit. 

145 Ridgeway, November 2, 1985, op. cit. 

have done don’t really reassure anybody.”146 As if to 
blunt any accusations that the Murphys were engaging 
in a coup, Woody disclosed that each of them stood 
to make at least $8 million on the sale of their approx-
imately 600,000 shares apiece. Woody Murphy put it 
succinctly, “The money is a burdensome thing. I 
would have liked to keep the company going like it 
has for 117 years.”147 The Murphy’s had been raised 
with the idea that Pacific Lumber was the proverbial 
“goose that lays the golden eggs,” and they were not 
about to participate in killing it. 

 
* * * * * 

 
None of these trivial matters concerned Charles 
Hurwitz, though. He was used to legal battles, as he 
had spent a good deal of his adult life involved in 
them. Very often he had the help of sympathetic, of-
ten arch-conservative judges. In the case of Pacific 
Lumber, none was more helpful to Charles Hurwitz 
than San Francisco Federal Court Justice William 
Schwarzer, an appointee of Hurwitz’a political ally, 
Gerald Ford. Time and again, he would issue deci-
sions in favor of Maxxam.148 Late on Friday, Novem-
ber 1, 1985, Schwarzer made his initial ruling in what 
would become an epic legal struggle. He dismissed 
the Murphy-Civiane lawsuit blocking the sale of the 
company to Maxxam and Hurwitz outright.149 When 
the Murphys’ legal team requested access to DBL’s 
financial records, a standard discovery procedure in 
similar legal proceedings, Schwarzer refused. “You 
could have knocked us over with a feather,” recalled 
Woody Murphy ruefully. It was apparent that the 
judge had a bias.150 Bertain would prove to be a tena-
cious opponent however, and appealed the decision 
to the Ninth Circuit Court in San Francisco within a 
week.151  

At least one motivation of the Murphy lawsuit 
was to delay the sale of the company, and though the 
Murphys had experienced a setback, they were not the 
only aggrieved parties sharing that desire. There were 
at least two other lawsuits by different groups of 
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shareholders still pending that were very similar in 
nature to the one filed by the Murphys.152 Woody 
Murphy and his siblings could take solace in the fact 
that the other lawsuits were still hindering Hurwitz’s 
ability to raise the money to complete the purchase, 
which he was required to do by November 8.153 Eure-
ka attorney Clayton R Janssen filed a suit on behalf of 
shareholders Fred W. Slack, Janice Slack, and Marjo-
rie Bussman alleging that the P-L board of directors 
had failed in its responsibility to consider the social, 
environmental, and economic impacts on the em-
ployees and the affected communities before accept-
ing Hurwitz’s offer in violation of Article 10 of P-L’s 
Articles of Incorporation.154 

That suit was joined by a third. Gene Elam 
had claimed that the board had attempted communi-
cation with 100 potential “white knights”, but appar-
ently none had expressed interest in buying Pacific 
Lumber.155 However, in a third lawsuit opposing the 
merger, plaintiffs charged Elam and his fellow direc-
tors with engaging in collusion with Maxxam arguing 
that, “Prior to the agreement, there was a tender offer 
made by a local company for $911 million ($42 per 
share), and Elam threw him out of the office. He 
wouldn’t even talk to him.” The P-L executive re-
sponded by claiming that the other buyer “didn’t want 
the liabilities,” which when deducted from the offer 
reduced the potential purchase price to between $35 
and $36 per share.156 San Francisco lawyer David 
Gold and Arcata attorney John Stokes filed the class 
action lawsuit on behalf of P-L stockholders William 
Fries and John Lippert calling for a temporary re-
straining order (TRO) against the merger in Hum-
boldt County Superior Court.157 Gold’s and Stokes’ 
arguments echoed those of Janssen’s, noting the 
board of directors’ initial rejection of Maxxam’s pur-
chase offer followed by their sudden about face two 
weeks later. They also noted the irregularities in the 
initial stock purchases in which Ivan Boesky. Gold 
and Stokes also alleged that the directors had fast-
tracked an increase in the severance packages of the 
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aforementioned 34 executives in response to Hurwitz 
offer thus explaining their sudden reversal.158  

Superior Court Justice John E. Buffington, in 
contrast with Schwarzer, did find merit in Gold’s and 
Stokes’ arguments and ruled in favor of the share-
holders, issuing a TRO halting the sale until a prelim-
inary hearing set for November 25. It also barred 
Maxxam from acquiring any additional stock until 
then. In his legal opinion, Buffington declared, 
“There is no denial of the fact the takeover company 
and the board reached certain agreements during ne-
gotiations and that there was a significant change in 
security benefits. In my opinion, the circumstances 
surrounding these changes and agreements need to be 
brought out.” Gene Elam seemed unimpressed with 
the ruling, however, declaring: 
 

“I have the utmost confidence the board’s ac-
tion will be found to be consistent with the 
high standards of integrity for which the Pacific 
Lumber Company has always been known. The 
board, when faced with a hostile takeover did 
everything it could to provide the most value 
possible to its shareholders and to protect the 
interests of all its employees. The charges 
against the board are without any merit whatso-
ever.”159 

 
As was to be expected, Maxxam planned to appeal 
the ruling.160 Woody Murphy, representing his two 
siblings as well as himself was elated, stating:  
 

“I’m very pleased the court saw fit to issue a re-
straining order. I feel it’s a first step in saving 
Pacific Lumber from Maxxam…We’ve got a 
good chance, but we’re in the 12th hour and we 
need to get hold of the other stockholders and 
let them know there’s a group that’s trying to 
stop this takeover. I don’t care if they’ve got a 
million shares or only one…I want to talk to 
them.”161 

 
The Murphys decided to use the added time to at-
tempt a leveraged buyout of their own. Meanwhile, 
other opponents of the Maxxam takeover organized 
adjacent campaigns. 
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* * * * * 
 
The resistance to Maxxam was joined on yet another, 
rather unexpected front. Many of the rank and file 
workers at Pacific Lumber—the one major timber 
company in northwestern California that had never 
recognized a union—were so fearful of losing their 
jobs, they sought help from the IWA. IWA Local #3-
98 business agent Tim Skaggs publically revealed that 
the union had been meeting with several rank and 
filers in an unofficial capacity in order to determine 
the potential viability of an organizing campaign, in 
response to phone calls for help from several of the 
workers. The workers who sought union representa-
tion evidently hoped that presence of a legally recog-
nized union bargaining unit might induce either 
Maxxam or the P-L board to back out of the sale, or 
at very least limit Maxxam’s ability to downsize the 
workforce. In the event that the latter did, a union 
contract could at least require that layoffs be conduct-
ed in order of seniority. Noting that P-L had been 
union free for much of its history, Skaggs urged po-
tentially hesitant workers to consider that they were 
living in a whole new reality: 
 

“The employees have to understand they can’t 
deal with management as individuals anymore, 
particularly if they find themselves with an 
owner who lives thousands of miles away and 
doesn’t know the lumber business. They’re go-
ing to have to deal with the company as a group 
with some power.”162 

 
Maxxam responded with full page paid advertise-
ments in various local publications, signed by Charles 
Hurwitz himself, addressed, “To the employees of the 
Pacific Lumber Company,” Stating: 
 

“We were attracted to invest our money in Pa-
cific Lumber largely because of its people and 
its tradition, history, and values. Each of you is 
very much a part of the great company that Pa-
cific Lumber has become over the years. Your 
dedication and hard work have made it a fine 
company of which you should be very proud. I 
respect you for your efforts and I want you to 
know that I believe you are essential to Pacific 
Lumber’s continued success in the coming 
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years. In fact, I believe that together we can 
make Pacific Lumber an even stronger compa-
ny—serving the interests of its employees, cus-
tomers, and communities. 

“We want you to understand that we are 
committed to running Pacific Lumber as an op-
erating company—now and in the future. We 
have a significant interest in your Company’s 
(sic) long term growth and development and we 
expect to be part of it for many, many years to 
come. We recognize your importance to our 
mutual success, and we have therefore taken 
steps to assure continuity for you and for the 
Company. We have agreed to continue all of 
the employee benefits and programs, as re-
quested by your board of Directors… 

“Your Board of Directors has unanimously 
approved our proposal.”163 

 
This only angered the workers further. Pacific Lum-
ber shipping clerk John Maurer of Carlotta, a ten year 
employee and fifteen year Humboldt County resident, 
who had served in Vietnam and later enrolled at Col-
lege of the Redwoods in Eureka, earning a Bachelor’s 
degree in Business and Economics before signing on 
at the company, led this charge. After reading Hur-
witz’s statement, he contacted Warren Murphy and 
informed the latter that he and his fellow workers 
wanted to help fight the takeover. Murphy, who real-
ized that he couldn’t legally participate in any efforts 
to discredit Hurwitz due to his and his sibling’s ef-
forts to engage in a leveraged buyout referred Maurer 
to Bill Bertain. The attorney advised Maurer to organ-
ize a petition drive to be published in the form of a 
protest letter as a paid advertisement in the local 
press. Maurer along with several others, including P-L 
millworker Charles “Kelly” Bettiga, blacksmith Clar-
ence “Pete” Kayes, and monorail mechanic Lester 
Reynolds began circulating the petition at work on the 
morning of Friday, November 15.  

As luck would have it, John Campbell was out 
of town, meeting with Elam in San Francisco, but he 
got word of the revolt through the word of an in-
formant who contacted him. When the vice president 
heard of the efforts he immediately sent word to the 
frontline supervisors and foremen to shut it down. 
Some of the foremen responded instantly, but oth-
ers—sympathetic to the petition—dragged their feet. 
Campbell then chartered a flight back to Humboldt 
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County to quash the budding revolt, but it was already 
too late. By 11 AM, as many as 340 P-L workers, a 
whopping 40 percent of the company’s Humboldt 
County employees had signed the protest letter and 
very likely that number would have been larger had 
Maurer and his allies managed to expand their efforts 
beyond Scotia. Even as it was, the effort was unprec-
edented for the Pacific Lumber employees who had 
not participated in an employee revolt since 1946.164 
The ad, which ran on November 17, 1985, read: 
 

“Some people are comfortable with the efforts 
of Charles Hurwitz and his Maxxam group to 
establish ownership of the Pacific Lumber 
Company. Most of us certainly are not! We, the 
employees who have signed this, do not feel 
that this impending takeover would be in the 
best interest of ourselves, the shareholders, and 
the communities in which our company serves. 
Most of us are the hardworking individuals who 
feel that PALCO was an honorable, well-
serving company, with a heritage that we could 
be proud of—not only a secure place to work, 
but one which dealt conscientiously with the preservation 
and proper management of our vital resources: our people 
and the redwoods.  

“In all earnestness, we do not feel that a 
company of real estate investors from the east 
coast can manage resources such as ours with 
the consideration that has been shown all these 
years by the Murphy Family. We wish to pro-
tect the integrity of our company, which has 
served our community so well…It is our sin-
cere belief that if the company’s leadership 
were back in the hands of the Murphy Family, 
the company’s business, our environment, and the 
communities in which we all live will continue 
to prosper…”165  
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* * * * * 
 

 
Christianson, Kenneth Criswell, Micheal S Clark, Greg Coleman, Franc 
B Cook, Gary A Cook, Mike Cook, Tim Cook, Tom Cooper, Tim 
Coppini, Wally Coppini, Edward Cordiero, Van A Crimson, Lawrence 
E Crnkovich, Bill Cross, Gary Crowl, Jack Curlee, Norman Cushing, 
Gurld J Daniel, Gary W Davis, Raymond C Davis, Ronald A Davis, 
Ernest DeCarli, Fred P DePucci, Tony DePucci, Harry R Dibble, Oscar 
Dillard, E Clifton Dodson, Leon W Dokweiler, Carol Dollarhide, 
Lonnie Dollarhide, Charles Douthitt, John L Doyle, Ronald C 
Drummond, Darron D Dunlap, James E Dyer, Terry Edgman, David 
Eicholtz, Fred W Elliot, Jim Elliot, Jim Elliot, Jr., Ray Elliot, Alfredo 
Erbina, Andy Erickson, Alan Estrada, Lauritz C Feddersen, Daniel T 
Ferguson, Arian Franklin, Rick Franklin, Frank C Fraser, Thomas A 
Fraser, Jr., Wilbur Freeman, Oscar J Fregoso, Danny Frietas, Gary Fritz, 
Richard Fritz, Charles Fuentes, Micheal G Fuller, Raymond 
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Peter J Hansen, Bradley D Harden, Marvin C Harwood, Robert Hatten, 
William F Hatton, John D Hay, David Hayes, Stephen J Hill James M 
Hinrichs, Gary L Hoalton, Alan D Hoffmann, Dale L Hoffmann, Ken 
Hollifield, Marvin Holmes, Harvey Holt, Jr., Frank A Hough, David O 
Houseworth, Ken Houseworth, Stanley W Houseworth Jr., Paul 
Hutcherson, Walter R Ingham, Jr., Jerry Ireland, David C Iverson, Terry 
L Iverson, Paul T James, Richard W Jarman, John Jeffers, Randolph N 
Jeffers, Eric P Johansen, Sr., Forrest Johnson, Mark D Johnson, Brad D 
Jonen, Dennis E Jones, Billy Jordan, Loran R Jordan, Jeffrey E 
Jorgensen, Pete Kayes, Arnold Kemp, Francis E Kennedy, Johnny C 
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King, Tom King, Frank Krause, Max Kuhnt, F Dale Laloli, Guybo C 
Lamb, Kenneth L Land, Carol LaTorre, Billy J Long, Sr., Terry 
Longcake, Richard F Lowrey, Don C Luther, John Lutsch, Frank A 
Luz, Larry D Malcomb, Mike Mahn, Robert Martella, Joe Matthews, 
Terry T Matthews, John R Maurer, Mike McClendon, David McCoy, 
Guy McCullough, Ricky McDough, Bobby McGee, Richard McKnight, 
Bill McLaughlin, Dan McLaughlin, Kelly McNaughton, Angelo M 
Micheli, William R Miller, Herschall L Moore, Tom Moore, Kevin 
Morris, Grady Morrow, Ned M Morrow, Kerry L Neff, Kenneth A 
Nelson, Dennis Newell, Paul Newmaker, Larry R Nichols, Thomas J 
Nowak, James A Ober, Charles H Ogle, Clarence Oliveira, John 
Oliveira, Joseph Olson, Robert Overholt, Cecil G Page, Darrel P 
Palmer, Curtis Parks, Jay Parrish, George Patmore Steven K Payne, 
Jeffery James Pearce, William L Perry, Richard E Peterson, Scott L 
Peterson, Arther A Petrey, Lester C Phelps, Charlie O Phillips, George 
Poli, Thomas R Pollard, Ronnie L Posey, James B Price, Dario 
Primofiore, Kevin Primofiore, Paul C Primofiore, Terry Prior, Anthony 
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Still others joined the fight. The resistance to Maxx-
am’s takeover also drew the support of environmen-
talists. The Humboldt Greens expressed their support 
for the stunned P-L workers and shareholders. A 
meeting held in Garberville, on October 28, 1985 
drew organizers from Fortuna to Briceland. Those 
attending unanimously rejected the takeover and 
called to a return to the original ownership. They 
pledged to ally themselves with the efforts of the P-L 
stockholders to block the takeover as well as the 
workers and townspeople.166 Tim McKay of the 
Northcoast Environmental Center (NEC) in Arcata 
stated,  
 

“There is a lot of apprehension here. They 
(were) the most stable lumber company in our 
region and they are about to go into liquidation-
of-assets mode. It may be the last boom in the 
boom-and-bust history of Humboldt County. 
That Maxxam would do this was evident in 
their takeover offer. They would need funds 
‘substantially in excess’ of Pacific Lumber’s 
then-current profits to pay off the purchase 
debt, and were thus ‘considering selling P-L’s 
cutting and welding subsidiary and increasing 
the company’s annual lumber production.’” 167  

 
On November 9, 1985, the NEC joined in the legal 
fight against Maxxam, petitioning the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) to withhold any action 
on the takeover until Maxxam completed an envi-
ronmental impact statement (EIS) as required under 
the National Environmental Policy Act. “Such a ma-
jor shift in policy from P-L’s tradition of sustained-
yield forestry could lead to increased sedimentation in 
the Eel River and more economic troubles for a re-
gion already suffering from high unemployment,” de-
clared McKay.168 

Even local business interests worried about 
the potential economic troubles that might result 
from the Maxxam takeover. Henry Smith & Co. ana-
lyst Alan Tate pointed out that even simply boosting 
the lumber output might be insufficient to answer all 
of Maxxam’s debt obligations, and further echoed the 
concerns about depressing the local market with a 
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glut of lumber. Added to that, the loss of support 
from increasingly vocal environmentalists could fur-
ther hurt the company’s economic standing.169 Kent 
Driesbock, director of the Eureka Economic Devel-
opment Corporation admonished the Humboldt 
County business community to take steps to mitigate 
the impact of the potential changes that might result 
from the merger, including especially the diversifica-
tion of the local economy—no easy task in a county 
that was still very heavily dependent upon timber. He 
also warned it would take time to absorb the impact 
of displaced workers. The county had already endured 
several layoffs, as well as the union busting labor dis-
pute at Louisiana Pacific, and conditions at Simpson 
Timber were not appreciably better.170 

The public at large was also largely vocal on 
the merger, and expressed their opinions in the edito-
rial pages of the local press. Without exception every 
letter opposed the Maxxam takeover. The most artic-
ulate example was penned by David Simpson, speak-
ing on behalf of the students and faculty at Petrolia 
High School.171 Many, such as Bill Barton172 and F 
Carmichael173, feared that Hurwitz would engage in 
slash and burn logging in stark contrast with the old 
Pacific Lumber’s sustainable forestry practices. Scotia 
resident Carol J. Fielder, whose husband had been an 
employee of P-L editorialized in favor of the Murphys 
and against Hurwitz.174  

Even the local press itself was divided on the 
merger. Naturally the environmental publications op-
posed it. By contrast, the Humboldt Beacon and Fortuna 
Advance, whose political orientation was staunchly 
right wing, editorialized in favor of the sale opining, 
“If not Maxxam, somebody else. That’s what many 
say. It is obvious that in 1985, the Pacific Lumber 
Company has become ripe for sale, merger, or a 
merged-sale…Change is often painful, but necessary, 
for progress.”175 Bruce Lang, news director at KIEM-
TV in Eureka had a more neutral take, declaring, 
“Some people are worried, but some sort of like it. 
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Pacific Lumber has been sort of a deity up here. Now, 
it will be down there with the rest of us.”176 The Eure-
ka Times-Standard, on the other hand, in spite of its 
conservative political orientation editorialized against 
the takeover declaring: 
 

“We’ve got trouble. Right here in timber city. 
With a capital ‘T’, and that rhymes with ‘P’, and 
that stands for power play… 

“(Maxxam’s) ‘quick profit’ policy can play 
unhealthy dividends to a community which has 
thrived on the timber industry for over a hun-
dred years… 

“Those who own P-L stock should think 
twice before selling off their shares…”177 

 
As the dissent grew, the battle to thwart Hurwitz and 
Maxxam continued. On November 8, 1985, Suzanne 
Beaver resigned from the Pacific Lumber board of 
directors in order to join her children in their fight. 
“She realized (that) she was in an awkward position in 
this whole affair. She wanted to be on our side, but 
she couldn’t do that if she stayed on the board,” de-
clared Warren Murphy.178  

The revolt seemed to be gaining momentum, 
until, on November 12, Maxxam representatives re-
vealed that Hurwitz had purchased 13 million shares 
of P-L’s common stock, approximately 60 percent of 
the total, prior to Buffington’s restraining order, thus 
giving Hurwitz a total of almost 65 percent overall. 
The corporate raider announced that he was prepared 
to purchase the remainder of the common stock if the 
appeal was lifted; Hurwitz needed 80 percent in order 
to complete his takeover.179 However a three judge 
panel of the First District Court of Appeals in San 
Francisco denied requests by both Maxxam and the 
P-L board of directors to overturn the TRO. Gold, 
Stokes, and Bob Janssen (who was still representing 
Slack, Slack, and Bussman) were elated.180  

Their triumph was short lived, however, be-
cause two days later, Maxxam filed a countersuit in 
the San Francisco Court of appeals charging that 

 
176 “Pacific Lumber’s Impact on an Isolated County”, by Ted Hughes, 

San Francisco Chronicle, November 11, 1985. 

177 “Trouble in Timber City”, editorial, Eureka Times-Standard, 
November 10, 1985. The title of the editorial and the opening sentences 
are references to The Music Man. 

178 “PL Board Member Resigns in Protest”, Eureka Times-Standard, 
November 9, 1985. 

179 “Hurwitz Controls 60% of Pacific Lumber”, by Ted Hughes, San 
Francisco Chronicle, November 12, 1985. 

180 Clevenger, November 13, 1985, op. cit. 

Buffington’s court lacked jurisdiction on the matter. 
The suit named judge Buffington and the two stock-
holders, Fries and Lippert, whose suit brought about 
the TRO as defendants.181 The following week, Judge 
William Schwarzer again dashed the hopes of Maxx-
am’s adversaries, finding in favor of Hurwitz’s chal-
lenge to Buffington’s jurisdiction.182 Gold and Slack 
appealed the decision, but the 9th Circuit Court af-
firmed Schwarzer’s ruling, though the court also al-
lowed the appellants to appeal the decision again, 
which they did to the US Supreme Court.183 The de-
fendants seemed confident that the courts would 
eventually brush aside the legal challenges against 
them. Seemingly unconcerned with the unpredictable 
outcome of the legal battle, the P-L board of directors 
proceeded with plans to construct a 25 megawatt co-
generation plant in Scotia. P-L public affairs manager 
David Galitz signaled his support for the new regime, 
declaring that Hurwitz supported the construction of 
the facility, as indicative of the corporate raider’s in-
tentions not to sell off P-L’s assets.184 Those with 
more to lose, however, were taking no chances.  

The fight over the body and soul of Pacific 
Lumber reached the desk of Supreme Court Justice 
William Renquist on November 25, 1985. The justice, 
temporarily at least, put the brakes on the merger by 
granting an extension for both sides to submit argu-
ments on Judge Schwarzer’s decision within 48 
hours.185 While this was happening, another group of 
shareholders, led by The Murphys and Bertain filed 
still one more lawsuit, this time in Maine where Pacif-
ic Lumber had been originally chartered, alleging 
breach of trust on the part of the current P-L board 
of directors, under Section 910 of that state’s Corpo-
ration Law. The suit demanded that the shares that 
already been sold to Hurwitz be placed in trust pend-
ing the outcome of this new legal challenge.186 Hur-
witz’s sale offer was set to expire on November 30, 
but Renquist’s ruling cast doubt on the legal status of 
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that deadline.187 On November 27, Judge Buffington 
extended the TRO until December 9 to give Renquist 
more time to make a decision.188 However, the Su-
preme Court Justice didn’t need it. On November 29, 
he ruled in favor of Maxxam.189 Meanwhile, Maxxam 
reported substantially lower earnings for the third 
quarter of 1985, dropping from $15.9 million, or 
$1.29 per share for the first three quarters of 1984 to 
$908,000, or $0.08 per share. The revelations further 
raised fears by critics of the takeover that Hurwitz 
would accelerate logging and sell off some of P-L’s 
assets to service his debt.190  

Bertain had not limited his tactics to lawsuits. 
He also attempted to outflank Maxxam by contacting 
as many political representatives and lawmakers who 
served the political jurisdictions—whether local, state, 
or federal—in which Pacific Lumber operated. At 
first this seemed to work. At the attorney’s urging, a 
quartet of mayors of local communities, including 
Craige McKnight of Rio Dell, Fred J. Moore Jr of Eu-
reka, Julie Fulkerson of Arcata, and Michael Allen of 
Fortuna, issued an open letter opposing the sale. In 
the letter, the four declared: 
 

“P-L’s dedication to sustained yield harvest has 
made it a pioneer in the prudent management 
of the North Coast’s greatest resource, the re-
newable resource of trees. Pacific Lumber’s 
practice of sustaining the forest predated, in 
fact, was the foundation for modern, environ-
mentally sound forest management. 

“As the North Coast environment nurtures 
us all, so P-L has nurtured the North Coast en-
vironment. The prospect of a fundamental 
change in the Pacific Lumber Company con-
cerns us.”191 

 
California State Assemblyman Dan Hauser, a Demo-
crat whose district included Humboldt County and 
home office was located in Arcata, also issued a 
strongly worded statement in the form of a letter to 
Hurwitz warning against altering the existing P-L 
company practices by the new regime, including any-
thing that might put the employees’ jobs at risk or 
glut the timber market with old growth redwood. 
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Hauser, who chaired the Assembly Subcommittee on 
Timber, warned Hurwitz that the panel would be 
“scrutinizing Maxxam’s policies toward the land base 
and the employees you inherit.”192 Likewise, Demo-
cratic Representative Doug Bosco, whose congres-
sional district included most of the northwest Cali-
fornia coast made similar proclamations, saying that, 
“He was prepared to take whatever steps are neces-
sary” to prevent Maxxam from liquidating P-L’s as-
sets, including stricter forestry regulations.193 Howev-
er, even this was not to be. After a meeting in New 
York with Hurwitz, Bosco changed his mind and be-
gan dismissing the campaign against the takeover as 
nothing more than “east coast hype”.194 The other 
lawmakers eventually caved in as well. 

At this point, Hurwitz openly declared victo-
ry, even though there were some that refused to give 
up. The first week in December, officials of the 
Maxxam Group declared that it had officially mailed 
payments for the 60 percent of the shares it had 
pledged to buy from the willing stockholders. This 
announcement was revealed in a letter written by Pa-
cific Lumber executive vice president, John Campbell, 
and sent to the company’s employees, in which he 
also admonished them to reject IWA Local 3-98’s un-
ionization overtures.195 Campbell’s letter was not well 
received, and by this time much of Scotia, including 
most of the workers, were giving him the cold shoul-
der. Before Maxxam’s appearance, practically every-
one in the happy Pacific Lumber kingdom was in 
good terms socially, even to the point of being on a 
first name basis. Now things were different, and John 
Campbell in particular—though he may have been the 
man in charge of lumber operations in Humboldt 
County—was a pariah as far as the townsfolk were 
concerned. None of this seemed to faze him much 
however, and he devoted his energy to assisting his 
new master, even to the point of suggesting how 
Hurwitz might increase lumber production and liqui-
date assets most effectively.196 

On December 11, attorney Donald B. Rob-
erts, representing a group of Pacific Lumber employ-
ees, including Pete Kayes, John Maurer, and Lester 
Reynolds filed a lawsuit of their own against the take-
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over in Humboldt Superior Court. The class action 
suit named Maxxam, its subsidiaries, Hurwitz, the P-L 
board of directors, and several John Does as defend-
ants. It charged that the P-L directors were “using 
their positions of control and dominance…and their 
knowledge of private corporate information to pursue 
a scheme…which (would) deprive Pacific Lumber’s 
employees of substantial benefits to which they would 
be entitled under the Pacific Lumber retirement 
plan,” namely the $50 million pension fund. Although 
not directly connected with the Murphys’ efforts, the 
latter still seemed buoyed by this new battlefront 
while regaining hope in their own efforts.197 

Ostensibly hoping to calm the worker’s fears 
and quell dissent among their ranks, Hurwitz made a 
visit to Scotia, accompanied by Gene Elam at John 
Campbell’s suggestion on December 16.198 He made a 
dog and pony show of shaking nearly 800 workers’ 
hands, smiled, and made a lot of small talk. Hurwitz 
may have been reclusive, but he was capable of at 
least seeming affable.199 The new owner encountered 
mostly tentative and apprehensive employees, though 
there were a few who openly expressed skepticism 
and quiet—though obvious—defiance. Kelly Bettiga, 
a third generation employee with a reputation for out-
spokenness, recalls being disgusted with the entire 
affair, especially Hurwitz’s apparent indifference to 
the changes he had wrought.200  

When Hurwitz approached the monorail me-
chanics’ department, at least one of them with a head 
for economics wondered how Hurwitz intended to 
pay for all of the debts he had incurred. As John 
Campbell and Gene Elam led their new boss to the 
shipping department, they worried about how their 
new boss would react to the strong anti Maxxam sen-
timent displayed there, mostly in the form of graffiti 
and signs bearing slogans such as “Axe Maxx”, 
“We’ve been Maxxed”, and “Where’s Uncle Charlie?” 
Charlie didn’t seemed bothered. Instead, he shook 
more hands, and then approached John Maurer who 
was watching from a distance, trying to stomach what 
he was witnessing. Hurwitz then ran his hands over a 
sample of P-L’s old growth clear heart redwood about 
to be shipped out and commented that they sure were 
good looking stock. “They’re the finest boards any-
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where,” responded Maurer professionally, but cold-
ly.201  

Following the tour, Elam and Campbell led 
Hurwitz to the Winema Theater where the second 
companywide meeting since the takeover convened. 
The three addressed the assembled crowd from on 
stage. Elam gave a long speech in which he dismissed 
the claims of those suing the board and Maxxam as 
baseless—gesturing coldly towards Warren Murphy 
who sat among the higher executives on the stage, 
while Murphy bit his tongue and bided his time as 
best he could.202 Hurwitz then attempted to reassure 
everyone that Maxxam was a “builder and not a liqui-
dator” and that they “were long term investors”, 
statements which would soon become the standard 
pro-Maxxam party line.203 He humorously waved off 
the charges against him by saying that he hoped his 
mother didn’t hear them (neglecting to mention that 
she was dead).204 He then fielded many questions, in-
cluding the level of control he would exercise over 
the daily management of Pacific Lumber, to which he 
responded that he would only intervene “if the profits 
aren’t there.”205  

John Campbell answered most production re-
lated questions and announced that there would be a 
modest increase in harvesting levels, perhaps no more 
than 20 percent, but that the employees would benefit 
from the overtime. He also claimed that—contrary to 
claims made by critics—most of the work would still 
be done in house. When the aforementioned mechan-
ic questioned Hurwitz on how the latter intended to 
address the costs incurred by the debt, the CEO re-
sponded, “cut back on electricity.” Much of this 
seemed to pacify many of the apprehensive workers 
and their families, other than Kelly Bettiga who 
fumed silently, sitting near the front of the audi-
ence.206  

Thinking that he had won over the crowd, 
Hurwitz uttered a statement, which was quoted in 
Time Magazine—that bore naked the corporate raider’s 
hubris for all to see. With a slight chuckle, he declared 
to the 800-plus employees of Pacific Lumber, 
“There’s a little story about the Golden Rule—those 
who have the gold, rule.”207 Hurwitz would later claim 

 
201 Harris, op. cit., pages 106-07. 

202 Harris, op. cit., pages 109-10 

203 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

204 Harris, op. cit., page 109. 

205 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

206 Harris, op. cit., pages 110-11. 

207 Henson and Phillpott, May 1990, op. cit. 



- 82 - 

that he had been making a joke. Kelly Bettiga, didn’t 
think so. Hurwitz essentially had just declared, “greed 
is good,” as far as the millworker was concerned. He 
recalled wanting to “stand up and strangle the arro-
gant son of a bitch,” but instead watched helplessly as 
almost everybody (other than himself, a handful of 
other dissidents, and Warren Murphy) laughed ever 
louder, especially Campbell.208 However, other equally 
angered P-L workers did not recall the reaction being 
as favorable. According to 42 year company veteran 
Wiley Lacey, “When Hurwitz told the P-L employees 
(that), he pissed a lot of people off. When you threat-
en somebody’s pension, there’s a lot of hard feel-
ings.”209 
 

* * * * * 
 
Still the Murphy’s soldiered on. Just before the end of 
the year, Warren and Woody Murphy contacted Hur-
witz attempting to convince the latter to sell Pacific 
Lumber at an unspecified amount exceeding $40 per 
share. The Maxxam CEO laughed and explained that 
he “just wasn’t interested.”210 Meanwhile, the Pacific 
Lumber board of directors decided that shareholders 
owning stock as of January 10, 1986 would be eligible 
to vote on the proposed sale at a stockholders’ meet-
ing in Portland, Maine on February 25, and mailed 
proxy statements to them. The Murphys’ legal ma-
neuvers in Maine were kicked back to Judge 
Schwarzer’s court in San Francisco, so they re-filed 
their suit there on January 25, 1986, seeking a prelim-
inary injunction to stop the shareholder vote on the 
proposed merger.211  

Hope seemed elusive for Bertain and the 
Murphys at this point, primarily because the judges 
had thus far denied their efforts to engage in discov-
ery which—if allowed—would have revealed evi-
dence of insider trading and collusion, but they had at 
least two small bits of evidence they could potentially 
rely upon. First, Bertain had received calls from Ivan 
Boesky’s office inquiring about the attorney’s legal 
plans, which was an odd coincidence at least, but 
pointed to deeper involvement by the speculator in 
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Maxxam’s own dealings. The second was Hurwitz’s 
takeover plans that had been filed with the SEC. 
Somehow, an anonymous individual within P-L’s 
management had smuggled copies of it to Bertain.212 
The attorney leaked the documents to the Eureka 
Times-Standard, who reported on their contents on 
December 28. The article reported that Hurwitz’s 
plans included increased lumber harvesting. As sug-
gested, this was due to the $870 million debt incurred 
by Maxxam in the takeover. The documents also stat-
ed that, “The purchaser may also consider selling por-
tions of the company’s timberlands.”213  

The flummoxed Maxxam spokesmen moved 
quickly to quell potential opposition. P-L public rela-
tions manager David Galitz argued that since the 
document was filed during the early stages of the 
takeover, that Charles Hurwitz “may have changed 
his mind on some points.”214 Hurwitz refused to 
speak to reporters or publically comment, however.215 
John Campbell claimed that the increased harvest had 
nothing to do with the merger and been in the plan-
ning stages for at least two years. This was, of course, 
a gross distortion of the truth, because the P-L board 
had refused Campbell’s and Stephens’s proposals just 
three months earlier.216  

Campbell also cited “market conditions” as 
the reasoning behind the increase, citing decreased 
shipments of top-grade old growth products from 
other mills in the region. Campbell attributed that to 
the federal government’s purchase of private old 
growth forests when Redwood Park expanded in 
1978217, a contention that had already been proven to 
be a lie.218 However, the biggest untruth of all was the 
citation of “market conditions” at all, because these 
had never truly been a consideration at the old Pacific 
Lumber which had bucked the trends for decades be-
fore Maxxam appeared “on the horizon.”219 Embold-
ened by the revelations, Bertain declared, “we want 
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the court to conduct a full hearing on all the issues 
surrounding the (merger) proposal).”220  

On February 12, however, Judge Schwarzer 
dashed the Murphys’ hopes, as well as all other stock-
holders hoping to stop Hurwitz a third time, rejecting 
every claim they had made. In his ruling, Schwarzer 
declared, “(P-L’s board of directors acted) in the best 
interest of the shareholders and the corporation. It is 
abundantly clear (the board) did not rush into the 
arms of Maxxam…(there is) no evidence whatever (to 
the contrary).”221 According to one of Bertain’s assis-
tants, the judge made no efforts to conceal his bias 
against the plaintiffs:  

 
“We didn’t even get the opportunity to cross 
examine witnesses, because the judge would not 
allow a full evidentiary hearing. We simply 
made our oral arguments. When we were fin-
ished, Judge Schwarzer started reading from his 
ruling, which he had written before we even 
began.”222 

 
The usually good natured Bertain was even more di-
rect, angrily exclaiming to the judge and opposing 
council, “well I hope you’re happy; you’ve just signed 
Humboldt County’s death warrant!”223  

As if to signal that the matter was final, Pacific 
Lumber officials along with representatives of Gen-
eral Electric held a ceremonial “golden shovel” cere-
mony kicking off the construction of the new cogen-
eration plant in Scotia on Thursday, February 20. The 
ceremony was attended by Gene Elam, P-L power 
plant manager Rich Sweet, and Humboldt County 
District 2 supervisor Harold Pritchard, all of whom 
still insisted that the new plant proved that Maxxam 
would not upset the balance that the old P-L had 
maintained for so long.224  

Even this didn’t put an end to the last minute 
attempts at a legal miracle. At Bill Bertain’s sugges-
tion, John Maurer and his wife, Laurie, organized a 
petition to demand that the city of Rio Dell oppose 
the merger under Article 10 of P-L’s Articles of In-
corporation which required the company to solicit 
information regarding potential merger impacts on 
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cities and other legal entities from the municipalities 
directly affected by such an event.225 Rio Dell city at-
torney Robert Zigler had informed the council of the 
option but declined to represent the city, leading the 
latter to retain Eureka attorney Arnie Braafladt, 
whose legal fees were paid for from donations made 
by the petitioners.226 The organizers obtained 150 sig-
natures from the town’s residents in less than 24 
hours, and they felt confident that mayor McKnight, 
who had already been on record as opposing the mer-
ger, would support their efforts. Indeed, at the Rio 
Dell city council meeting on Tuesday, February 18, 
the city council, led by the mayor agreed to take the 
matter under advisement and hold a special session 
two days later to make their decision.227 Their hopes 
were short-lived. 

The petitioners were the victims of extremely 
bad timing. Very early on the morning of February 
18, a flash flood brought on by a freakish winter rain-
storm that blasted Sonoma, Mendocino, and South-
ern Humboldt counties washed out a bridge that also 
carried the mains that provided Rio Dell’s fresh water 
supply. On top of that, a fire erupted in one of the 
buildings in the battered town’s downtown commer-
cial district. John Campbell arranged for a temporary 
source of water to be supplied from Scotia and then 
ordered a battalion of P-L’s water trucks to put out 
the fire. When Campbell heard of McKnight’s will-
ingness to invoke Article 10 twelve hours later, he 
threatened to cut off the emergency water rations. 
Two days later, when Laurel appeared before the Rio 
Dell City Council meeting on February 20, armed 
with a petition signed by 150 of the town’s residents, 
McKnight betrayed the dissidents.  After a 30 minute 
closed door session with city council, the officials re-
fused to take up the matter.228 McKnight’s official ex-
planation was that the council had three motivating 
factors: first, there was a very real possibility Maxxam 
would countersue the city as it had Rancho Mirage; 
second, Rio Dell had good relations with Pacific 
Lumber, and third, the potential damage was “strictly 
theoretical, so far.”229 This was the last straw. On 
February 25, 1986, at the shareholders’ meeting, 
Hurwitz got his supermajority. The deal was done.  
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* * * * * 
 
Reaction among many of the workers, stockholders, 
and Scotians was now one of resignation. Long time 
P-L employee, Idella Kent declared, “I feel as though 
an era has ended with this merger. People aren’t going 
to feel that this is home the way they did, or that they 
can put down roots here.”230  

Her fellow employee, Randy Jeffers added, 
“Even people in this town who don’t own a dime of 
this company feel like they own it. It hurts like hell 
when someone comes along and tells you that stock-
holders come first and employees are number two.”231  

Don Filby who had served as a manager of 
lumber operations for more than 32 years said, “Over 
the years there was an obligation to the community 
and with the change in ownership, that obligation will 
be lessened.” Another unnamed worker stated, 
“There has been an underlying change. (Now) there’s 
a mistrust of the people who are running the compa-
ny.”232  

Scotia pastor Stave Frank opined, “In Scotia, 
you can’t separate the community and the workplace. 
It’s not just a job here; it’s a way of life, a family. Af-
ter the takeover, people saw that way of life as being 
vulnerable. And the question is, will that way of life 
be maintained over time?”233 

In some cases, the resignations were literal. 
Warren Murphy could not stomach serving for the 
new regime and ended his relationship with the com-
pany that his family had literally built. In a last act of 
betrayal, Campbell told his former friend that he and 
his family could remain in his residence in Scotia “for 
as long as he wanted,” but issued an eviction notice 
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the very next day.234 The Murphy family would have 
no role in the new management structure. Said the 
last would be scion of the dynasty that was no more, 
“My grandfather and my father shared a vision. If you 
take care of the resources and take care of the people 
and put out a good product, everything else runs it-
self. What will be missing now is that whole paternal 
feeling.”235 He was to be followed by John Maurer 
who vowed to continue his fight against Maxxam, but 
not directly under Hurwitz’s economic thumb.236  

As predicted by critics of the takeover, many 
of the directors that had approved the sale benefitted 
from it. Gene Elam retired from Pacific Lumber, 
golden parachute and all, earning in excess of 
$424,863.237 When asked, the former exec would not 
comment on the reasons for his resignation.238 He 
was replaced by William C. Leon, one of Hurwitz’s 
lieutenants who served as head of other Maxxam 
holdings. Vice president, general counsel, and secre-
tary Ed Beck exited with $201,280. Although execu-
tive vice presidents Thomas B Malarkey Jr. and John 
Campbell as well as vice president Vincent C. Garner 
did not resign, they were guaranteed severances of 
$243,000, $169,815, and $200,000 respectively should 
they leave the company within the next two years.239  

As feared, the purchase of Pacific Lumber had 
given Hurwitz a substantial debt. His junk bond inter-
est obligations by far exceeded the entire average an-
nual P-L profits.240 Maxxam began liquidating assets 
and accelerated timber production, but not by a mere 
25 percent. Within a year, lumber harvesting literally 
doubled,241 and the increased production overwhelmed 
the Scotia Mill. To handle the increased old growth 
lumber production, Pacific Lumber announced, on 
April 4, 1986, the purchase of an existing mill in Car-
lotta that Louisiana-Pacific had plans to shutter, laying 
off 100 nonunion employees. The facility had operat-
ed with two eight-hour shifts daily, and was equipped 
to handle 60 million bf of old growth timber which 
had been depleted due to recent overcutting on near-
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by federal lands. P-L promised to interview some of 
the furloughed workers, but would ultimately hire on-
ly a portion of them.242 P-L planned to open the mill 
on May 19, 1986 and use it to mill old growth Doug-
las Fir harvested from the nearby Van Duzen river 
area, on land purchased from L-P a few years previ-
ously ironically enough.  

The mill was now expected to handle about 
30 million board feet of lumber per year under the 
new regime. IWA Local 3-469 business agent Don 
Nelson, speaking on behalf of some of the existing P-
L workers who had contacted the union about organ-
izing, relayed fears that the new soon-to-be P-L em-
ployees would be paid the same wage as they had 
been under L-P’s regime, and even suggested that the 
union was looking to establish a new local in Rio Dell, 
but P-L employee relations director Steve Hart denied 
these charges, claiming that any new hires would earn 
the same wage as all other existing company mill 
workers, which was higher than the nonunion mill 
workers at L-P. Pacific Lumber only hired fifty of the 
workers, however leading further credence to the 
contention that under Hurwitz’s watch P-L would 
indeed be the new L-P.243 

Pacific Lumber did hire new workers, includ-
ing 25 loggers to work in the woods, but most of 
them were gyppo operations that already contracted 
with P-L or other logging concerns.244 Many of the 
additional workers that were employed by the compa-
ny had been recruited from out of state, no doubt to 
blunt the IWA’s union organizing efforts, which 
Maxxam opposed as much as the old P-L.245 Proof of 
Hurwitz’s antiunion sentiment could be seen in the 
handling of the building of the new cogeneration 
plant. It went ahead as planned, using non-union la-
bor from out of the county even though unionized 
building trades workers were readily available, and 
General Electric had originally contracted with 
Plumbers and Pipefitters Union Local #471 for its 
construction. According to union representative Gary 
Haberman, Maxxam hired a company from the Gulf 
of Mexico to work on the plant. The labor was 
brought in mostly from Wyoming. Union organizers 
checked the power plant parking lot and reportedly 34 
out of 46 cars had out-of-state plates. Thus, not only 
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was the work not going to local residents, the State of 
California wasn’t even getting the vehicle registration 
fees, thus demonstrating that many of the claims 
about the merger benefitting the local economy had 
been empty talk.246 The IWA Local 3-98 union organ-
izing attempt itself fizzled. John Campbell claimed 
that the IWA’s efforts had met with resistance from 
“most workers”, but in all likelihood that statement 
was also a lie.247  

As for the workers benefits, which Hurwitz 
promised to leave untouched for three years, there 
were no guarantees that these would be extended af-
ter the three-year deadline. Hurwitz quickly terminat-
ed the annual cost of living increases that were paid 
out of the $55 million pension surplus, but he re-
mained obligated to provide for the vested pension 
benefits covering more than 2,600 beneficiaries. To 
meet this condition, Maxxam signed a $37.3 million 
contract with Executive Life Insurance Company in 
early 1986, despite objections by Vincent C. Garner 
and advice against such actions by independent con-
sultants. Additionally, the Executive Life bid had been 
received late, after all the other competing bids had 
been reviewed, and was delivered directly to Maxxam 
instead of Garner as stipulated in the competitive bid 
proposal. As it turned out, Executive Life was the 
primary subsidiary of the First Executive Corporation 
which was a purchaser of junk bonds used to fund a 
certain takeover of a certain Humboldt County lum-
ber company, although Executive Life chairman Fred 
Carr (another Maxxam ally) denied any collusion and 
claimed no knowledge of the overfunded pension 
plan at the time. Garner, however was highly suspi-
cious of the selection and took the matter to his supe-
riors only to be shined on. This led to his resignation 
from P-L as well. Under the Executive Life annuity 
plan, there were no provisions for the cost of living 
increases as before, and evidence suggested that the 
plan was no longer insured. This meant that the P-L 
retirees as well as vested former and current employ-
ees risked losing all of their benefits should Executive 
Life declare bankruptcy.248 

Pacific Lumber, which once stood in stark 
contrast to the robber-baron practices of Georgia Pa-
cific and Louisiana-Pacific, was now under the con-
trol of Charles Hurwitz, a man who was virtually in-
distinguishable in the temperament or business prac-
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tices of Harry Merlo. But could this have been avoid-
ed? In all likelihood the answer is “no”. In a very real 
sense, the Murphy dynasty had dug its own grave, 
slowly, shovel by shovel even as it thought it was en-
suring its long term stability. Under ideal, storybook 
conditions in enlightened economic textbooks, the 
sort of welfare capitalism Pacific Lumber instituted, 
ironically to thwart the “socialism” of the IWW, left it 
open to the vampire capitalism of which Hurwitz and 
Merlo represented the vanguard. P-L public affairs 
manager David Galitz almost hit the nail on the head 
when he declared, “It is unfortunate that the myth 
existed that we were controlled by one working fami-
ly. Once we were listed on the New York Stock Ex-
change and bought by pension funds and investment 
brokers, they became our true owners. Perhaps it’s 
too bad we didn’t realize that.”249 In fact, it was the 
IWW slogan, “Capitalism cannot be reformed” which 
best described the fatal flaws in the Murphy Dynasty’s 
paternalistic endeavor, even if it took almost three 
quarters of a century to prove it. The situation 
seemed dark indeed, but fortunately, a new dawn was 
about to break, once again in Humboldt County, the 
crucible of radicalism in the timber industry. 

 

Maxxam’s on the Horizon 

Lyrics and Music by Darryl Cherney, 1991 
Featured on Timber 1991 and in Uprise Singing circa 1992 

and 1995. 
(lyrics and annotations used by permission) 

 

In the town of Kilgore, Texas, 
Was born a tailor’s son, 
From the killing of the Indians, 
He learned how the west was won. 
His name was Charlie Hurwitz, 
And he terrorized the land, 
His killing field was Wall Street, 
And his gang was called Maxxam. 

Chrous: 
Maxxam’s on the horizon, 
An outlaw gang a raiding company, 
Maxxam’s on the horizon, 
Ain’t no-one safe with Hurwitz runnin’ free. 

Hurwitz stole Pacific Lumber, 
Used junk bonds to get the cash, 
Left the mighty redwood forest, 
A pile of broken slash 
Ivan Boesky made his millions, 
When Maxxam’s deal was done, 

 
249 Abramson, July 13, 1986, op. cit. 

A billion dollars paid with redwood blood, 
And the workers’ pension fund. 

Chrous: 
(line 2) With dollars seen in every redwood tree… 

With the Patterns of simplicity, 
Charlie Hurwitz took his toll,  
From the Aluminum of Kaiser, 
To the Oil of MCO. 
He blew a billion and three quarters, 
In the Savings and Loan Scam, 
He pled guilty to insurance fraud,  
Where’s the justice for Maxxam? 

Chorus: 
(line 2) And they’re taking over everything they see… 

Now in the mountains of Rancho Mirage, 
Where the bighorn sheep do dwell, 
Where there used to be a lambing ground, 
Is the Ritz Carlton Hotel. 
And in Tucson, Arizona, 
Midst the blight of urban sprawl, 
He’s building condos and a golf course, 
While the water tables fall 

Now Earth First! offers a Reward, 
Fifty thousand we will pay,  
Whoever captures Charlie Hurwitz, 
And puts that boy away. 
‘Cause Maxxam’s on the horizon, 
Can’t you see what’s going down, 
Turn the forests into deserts, 
And the deserts into towns. 

Chorus: 
(line 2) And there’s no-one left to fight but you and me… 

Ain’t no-one safe with Hurwitz runnin’ free. . . 
Ain’t no-one safe with Charlie Hurwitz free. 

  

 


